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AGENDA 
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 

October 27, 2021 
10:00 a.m. 

Meeting location:  Central Florida Expressway Authority 
4974 ORL Tower Road 

Orlando, FL 32807 
Boardroom 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PUBLIC COMMENT
Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes and CFX Rule 1-1.011, the Audit Committee provides for an opportunity 
for public comment at the beginning of each regular meeting. The Public may address the Committee on any matter of 
public interest under the Committee's authority and jurisdiction, regardless of whether the matter is on the Committee's 
agenda but excluding pending procurement issues. Public Comment speakers that are present and have submitted 
their completed Public Comment form to the Recording Secretary at least 5 minutes prior to the scheduled start of the 
meeting will be called to speak. Each speaker shall be limited to 3 minutes. Any member of the public may also submit 
written comments which, if received during regular business hours at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting, will be 
included as part of the record and distributed to the Committee members in advance of the meeting.

C. APPROVAL OF JUNE 23, 2021 AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES (action Item)

D. AGENDA ITEMS

1. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF EXTERNAL AUDIT OF FISCAL 2021 FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS – Joel Knopp, Shareholder and Dan 
O'Keefe, Shareholder, MSL CPAs and Advisors (action item)

2. STATUS UPDATE: FISCAL 2022 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN – Jeff Tecau, Managing Director, 
Protiviti (info item)

3. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF SECURE CODE REVIEW – Chris Porter, Associate 
Director, Protiviti (action item)

4. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF PRIOR AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS: SEMI-ANNUAL 
FOLLOW-UP – Graham Wigle, Manager, Protiviti (action item)

5. PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT BILLING AUDITS – CONTRACT SELECTION –Graham 
Wigle, Manager, Protiviti (info item)

6. ERP SYSTEM SELECTION UPDATE – Lisa Lumbard, Chief Financial Officer (info item)

(CONTINUED ON PAGE 2) 
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E. OTHER BUSINESS  
 

F. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 

This meeting is open to the public. 
 

Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes states that if a person decides to appeal any decision made by a board, agency, or 
commission with respect to any matter considered at a meeting or hearing, they will need a record of the proceedings, 
and that, for such purpose, they may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record 
includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Persons who require translation services, which are provided at no cost, should contact CFX at (407) 690-5000 x5316 
or by email at Iranetta.Dennis@cfxway.com at least three (3) business days prior to the event. 
 
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), if any person with a disability as defined by the ADA 
needs special accommodations to participate in this proceeding, then they should contact the Central Florida 
Expressway Authority at (407) 690-5000 no later than two (2) business days prior to the proceeding. 
 
Please note that participants attending meetings held at the CFX Headquarters Building are subject to certain 
limitations and restrictions in order to adhere to the CDC guidelines and to ensure the safety and welfare of the public. 

mailto:Iranetta.Dennis@cfxway.com
mailto:Iranetta.Dennis@cfxway.com
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DRAFT MINUTES 

CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY 
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 

June 23, 2021 
 

Location: Central Florida Expressway Authority 
4974 ORL Tower Road 

Orlando, FL 32807 
Pelican Conference Room 

 
 
 
Committee Members Present:  
Michelle McCrimmon, City of Orlando Representative, Chairman 
Lorie Bailey Brown, Seminole County Representative 
Kaye Dover, Osceola County Representative 
Kathy Wall, Brevard County Representative 
Megan Zee, Citizen Representative 
 
Committee Members Not Present:  
Kristy Mullane, Lake County Representative  
Ray Walls, Orange County Representative 
 
Also Present: 
Laura Kelley, Executive Director 
Lisa Lumbard, Chief Financial Officer 
Jim Greer, Chief Technology and Operating Officer 
Woody Rodriguez, General Counsel 
Michael Carlisle, Director of Accounting and Finance 
Rita Moore, Recording Secretary/Executive Administrative Coordinator 
Jeff Tecau, Protiviti 
Chris Porter, Protiviti 
David Taylor, Protiviti 
 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at approximately 10:10 a.m. by Chairman McCrimmon. 

 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment.  
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C. APPROVAL OF THE APRIL 28, 2021 MINUTES 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Dover and seconded by Ms. Zee to approve the April 28, 2021 minutes 
as presented. The motion carried unanimously with five (5) members present voting AYE by voice 
vote. Mr. Walls and Ms. Mullane were not present. 
 
 
D. AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

1. STATUS UPDATE: FISCAL 2021 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN  
 
Mr. Jeff Tecau of Protiviti presented the Status Update: Fiscal 2021 Internal Audit Plan. 
 
(This item was presented for information only. No committee action was taken.) 
 

 
2. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF FISCAL 2022 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND RISK 

ASSESSMENT 
 
Mr. Woody Rodriguez, General Counsel arrived at the meeting at 10:35 am. 
 
Mr. Jeff Tecau and Mr. David Taylor of Protiviti presented the Review and Acceptance of Fiscal 2022 
Internal Audit Plan and Risk Assessment. 
 
Committee members asked questions which were answered by Mr.  Tecau, Mr. Taylor, and Mr. Porter as 
well as Ms. Lumbard, Mr. Greer, Mr. Rodriguez and Ms. Kelley. 
 

 
A motion was made by Ms. Zee and seconded by Ms. Dover to accept the Fiscal 2022 Internal Audit 
Plan and Risk Assessment as presented. The motion carried unanimously with five (5) members 
present voting AYE by voice vote. Mr. Walls and Ms. Mullane were not present. 
 

 
3. ERP SYSTEM SELECTION UPDATE 

 
Ms. Lisa Lumbard, Chief Financial Officer introduced Mr. Michael Carlisle, Director of Accounting and 
Finance to present an update on the ERP Requirements Support.  

 
Committee members asked questions which were answered by Ms. Lumbard and Mr. Carlisle. 

 
(This item was presented for information only. No committee action was taken.) 
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4. ANNUAL DISCUSSION REGARDING INTERNAL AUDITOR PERFORMANCE AND 
EFFECTIVENESS  

 
Ms. Michelle McCrimmon, Chairman presented the Annual Discussion Regarding Internal Auditor 
Performance and Effectiveness. 
 
Committee members provided feedback on the internal auditors’ performance and effectiveness. 
 
 
(This item was presented for information only. No committee action was taken.) 
 

 
5. ANNUAL DISCUSSION REGARDING AUDIT COMMITTEE AND INDIVIDUAL PERFORMANCE  
 

Ms. Michelle McCrimmon, Chairman presented the Annual Discussion Regarding Audit Committee and 
Individual Performance. 
 
Committee members discussed the Audit Committee’s annual performance review as well as individual 
performance review. Chairman McCrimmon suggested that a self-assessment be created for Committee 
members so the Committee would have some metrics to measure. Woody Rodriguez, General Counsel 
suggested that the requirement could be removed from the charter. 
 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Dover and seconded by Ms. Zee to amend the Audit Committee Charter, 
Item #24 as follows; remove the individual performance review requirement; and add that members 
may not exceed two (2) meeting absences per calendar year. The motion carried unanimously with 
five (5) members present voting AYE by voice vote. Mr. Walls and Ms. Mullane were not present. 
 

 
6. CONFIRMATION OF COMPLETION OF RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

CHARTER  
 
Mr. Jeff Tecau of Protiviti presented Confirmation of Completion of Responsibilities in the Audit Committee 
Charter. 
 
Committee members asked questions which were answered by Mr. Tecau. 
 
 
(This item was presented for information only. No committee action was taken.) 
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E. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Ms. Michelle McCrimmon, Chairman stated that per the Audit Committee Charter chairman rotation, Ms. 
Kathy Walls will be the new Chairman in September. 
 
Ms. Kaye Dover inquired about the distribution of the Potential Conflict Disclosure Form to the committee 
members. Mr. Woody Rodriguez, General Counsel replied that the Potential Conflict Disclosure Forms 
were sent out on June 23, 2021.   
  
 
F. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Chairman McCrimmon adjourned the meeting at approximately 11:19 a.m. 

 
 
 
 

 
Minutes approved on  ____________, 2021.  
 
Pursuant to the Florida Public Records Law and CFX Records Management Policy, audio tapes of all Board and applicable 
Committee meetings are maintained and available upon request to the Records Management Liaison Officer at 
publicrecords@CFXway.com or 4974 ORL Tower Road, Orlando, FL 32807.  

mailto:publicrecords@CFXway.com


D.1
REVIEW AND 

ACCEPTANCE OF 
EXTERNAL AUDIT OF 

FISCAL 2021 FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND 

REQUIRED 
COMMUNICATIONS



DRAFTCENTRAL FLORIDA 
EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY 

 
Financial Statements and  

Supplementary Information 
 

For Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



DRAFT
CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY 

 

 
Table of Contents 

 
   Page 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report  1 - 2 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  3 - 10 
 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Balance Sheets  11 - 12 
 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position  13 
 
Statements of Cash Flows  14 - 15 
 
Notes to Financial Statements  16 - 48 
 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Trend Data on Infrastructure Condition  49 
 
Schedule of CFX’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Florida 

Retirement System (FRS) and Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program  50 
 
Schedule of CFX Contributions – Florida Retirement System (FRS) and Retiree 

Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program  51 
 
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Calculation of the Composite Debt Service Ratio, as 

Defined by the Bond Resolutions and Related Documents  52 
 
REPORTS ON COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 
 Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  53 - 54 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Bond Covenants  55 
 
Independent Accountant’s Report  56 
 
Management Letter  57 - 58 
 



DRAFT
 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 



DRAFT
 

 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



DRAFT
 

 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



DRAFT
 

 

REPORTS ON COMPLIANCE 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL 



DRAFT
 

1 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Members of the 

Central Florida Expressway Authority 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Central Florida Expressway Authority (“CFX”) as of 
and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise CFX’s basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of CFX as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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To the Members of the 
Central Florida Expressway Authority 

 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and analysis, trend data on infrastructure condition information, and pension schedules, as listed in the table of 
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries 
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audits of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise CFX’s basic financial statements.  The calculation of composite debt service ratio, as listed in the table of 
contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements.  This 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from, and relates directly to, the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audits, of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated DATE, on our 
consideration of CFX’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering CFX’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Orlando, Florida 
DATE 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
As financial management of the Central Florida Expressway Authority (CFX), we offer readers of 
these financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of CFX 
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.  This discussion and analysis is designed to 
assist the reader in focusing on the significant financial issues and activities and to identify any 
significant changes in financial position.  We encourage readers to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
Operating income for CFX was $363,298,000 (an increase of 15%) and $317,094,000 (a 
decrease of 7%) for fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively.  The increase in operating income 
in fiscal year 2021 is primarily due to higher toll traffic. The decrease in operating income in fiscal 
year 2020 is primarily due to a decrease in toll traffic which was part of the fallout from restrictions 
created by the COVID-19 virus that plagued the global economy, and an increase to preservation 
expenses.   
 
Net income produced an increase in net position of $227,906,000 and $203,751,000 for fiscal 
years 2021 and 2020, respectively.  The term “net position” refers to the difference of assets and 
deferred outflows less liabilities and deferred inflows. At the close of fiscal year 2021, CFX had a 
net position of $2,888,556,000, an increase of 9% over fiscal year 2020. At the close of fiscal year 
2020, CFX had a net position of $2,660,650,000, an increase of 8% over fiscal year 2019.  CFX’s 
overall financial position has improved, as shown by the increase in net position. 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to CFX’s financial statements, 
which is comprised of the basic financial statements and the notes to the financial statements, 
and supplementary information presented.  Since CFX is comprised of a single enterprise fund, 
fund level financial statements are not shown. 
 
Basic financial statements - The basic financial statements are designed to provide readers 
with a broad overview of CFX’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The balance sheets present information on all CFX’s assets and deferred outflows and liabilities 
and deferred inflows, with the difference between them reported as net position.  Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
condition of CFX is improving or deteriorating.  Net position increases when revenues exceed 
expenses.  Increases to assets without a corresponding increase to liabilities results in increased 
net position, which indicates an improved financial condition. 
 
The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position present information showing 
how a government’s net position changed during the fiscal year.  All changes in net position are 
reported as soon as the underlying event occurs, regardless of timing of related cash flows.  Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in these statements for some items that will only result in 
cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., earned but unused vacation leave). 
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Notes to the financial statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential 
to a full understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements. 
 
Other information - In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this 
report also presents certain supplementary information concerning CFX’s composite debt service 
ratio, as defined by the bond resolutions, as well as trend data on infrastructure condition and 
pension schedules. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
Net position may serve, over time, as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  In 
the case of CFX, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by 
$2,888,556,000 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.  This represents an increase of 
$227,906,000 (9%) over the previous year, which is attributable to operations.  Unrestricted net 
position increased from $567,069,000 at June 30, 2020 to $744,567,000 at June 30, 2021, an 
increase of $177,498,000 (31%).  This increase was also due to operations and funding CFX’s 
capital plan with bond construction funds. 
 
By far, the largest portion of CFX’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., right-
of-way, roads, bridges, buildings, toll equipment, etc.), less any related debt used to acquire those 
assets that is still outstanding.  CFX uses these capital assets to provide service and, 
consequently, these assets are not available for liquidating liabilities or for other spending. 
 
Of the $5,271,214,000 in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, $39,998,000 represents 
the roadway, toll plaza and equipment on the Goldenrod Road Extension.  This project, which 
opened to traffic in March 2003, was jointly funded by CFX, the Greater Orlando Aviation 
Authority, the City of Orlando, Orange County, Florida, and private developers, with CFX serving 
as the lead agency on the project.  The Goldenrod Road Extension extends from the previous 
terminus of Goldenrod Road at Narcoossee Road south to Cargo Road.  This facility intersects 
SR 528 (Martin B. Andersen Beachline Expressway), east of the Orlando International Airport, at 
a system interchange.  Each partner contributing to this project will be repaid through toll revenues 
generated by this road.  After all operational expenses are met and the partners are reimbursed 
for their contributions, the toll plaza will be demolished, and the roadway will be transferred to the 
City of Orlando.  CFX will retain ownership of the interchange to SR 528 and certain portions of 
the right-of-way. Since this project is a non-system project, it is accounted for on a single line in 
the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, in the non-operating revenues 
(expenses) section.  The toll revenue on this non-system project is not pledged to CFX’s bond 
indebtedness. 
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Central Florida Expressway Authority's Net Position 
 

2021 2020 2019

Current and other assets 798,296$             608,923$           447,334$          
Non-current restricted assets 368,481               563,838             236,992            
Capital assets 5,271,214            5,101,819          4,831,730         
Total assets 6,437,991            6,274,580          5,516,056         

Deferred outflows of resources 306,065               392,764             356,066            
Total assets and deferred outflows 6,744,056            6,667,344          5,872,122         

Current liabilities:
Payable from unrestricted assets 57,994                 56,176               58,415              
Payable from restricted assets 188,927               179,062             134,743            

Revenue bonds outstanding (net of current portion) 3,389,071            3,325,414          2,738,514         
Other long-term liabilities 214,419               440,336             477,510            
Total liabilities 3,850,411            4,000,988          3,409,182         

Deferred inflows of resources 5,089                  5,706                 6,041                
Total liabilities and deferred inflows 3,855,500            4,006,694          3,415,223         

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 2,126,023            2,064,051          1,922,707         
Restricted 17,966                 29,530               39,106              
Unrestricted 744,567               567,069             495,086            

Total net position 2,888,556$          2,660,650$        2,456,899$        

June 30,

(in thousands)
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CFX’s toll revenues increased 10% and decreased 2% during the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2021 and 2020, respectively.  The decrease in fiscal year 2020 was caused by restrictions put in 
place due to the global pandemic. 
 
Toll revenue represents approximately 98% of all operating revenues.  CFX’s toll revenue annual 
growth rate has averaged 7% over the last 10 years.   
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Central Florida Expressway Authority's Changes in Net Position 
 

2021 2020 2019

Revenues:
Toll revenues  $              496,954  $              451,894  $             463,236 
Transponder sales                      1,396                         820                        648 
Other operating revenue                      9,262                    14,650                   12,313 
Investment income                      4,142                    21,237                   14,082 
Goldenrod Road Extension - net                      1,308                      1,491                     1,518 
Poinciana Parkway - net                           -                             -                       1,862 
Other non-operating revenue                         409                         452                        374 
Gain on capital assets                         177                           -                             -   
Capital Contribution                           -                             -                     12,294 

Total revenues                  513,648                  490,544                 506,327 

Expenses:
Operations                    65,807                    64,937                   62,123 
Maintenance                    18,552                    18,022                   17,753 
Administrative                      8,993                      8,910                     8,447 
Depreciation                    18,615                    15,384                   14,194 
Preservation                    20,929                    31,002                   21,586 
Other                    11,418                    12,015                   12,068 
Interest expense                  141,428                  134,089                 121,608 
Loss on capital assets                           -                        2,434                     1,306 

Total expenses                  285,742                  286,793                 259,085 

Change in net position 227,906 203,751 247,242

Net position, beginning of year 2,660,650 2,456,899 2,209,657

Net position, end of year  $           2,888,556  $           2,660,650  $          2,456,899 

Years Ended June 30,

Central Florida Expressway Authority's Changes in Net Position

(in thousands)

CFX’s Operations, Maintenance and Administration (“OM&A”) expenses for fiscal year 2021 
increased 2.0% from fiscal year 2020 and ended the year 1.7% under budget.  CFX came in under 
budget due primarily to the following reasons: 1) There were several roadway maintenance 
programs that came in under budget 2) due to a variety of reasons such as lower bank and 
interoperable fees and a reduced workforce, the operation of the plazas came in under budget. 
 
Transponder sales increased by 70% between fiscal years 2020 and 2021 due to a significant 
focus on branding and marketing of E-PASS and the release of the new Uni transponder.   
 
Investment income decreased by 80% between fiscal years 2020 and 2021. This decrease was 
expected given the current investment rate climate with treasury yields and other secured 
investments seeing significant reductions over the past year and a half.  
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Other operating revenue consists of various fees that are collected, such as statement fees, Pay 
By Plate fees and fees received for collecting revenue on behalf of other entities.  Other operating 
revenue increased by 19% between fiscal years 2019 and 2020 but decreased by 37% between 
fiscal years 2020 and 2021. In fiscal year 2021, CFX replaced its previous Pay By Plate structure 
with a Pay By Plate toll rate.  This made the actual toll equitable to CFX’s cost to collect and took 
away added on fees. 
 
Preservation expense includes such items as resurfacing and restriping.  The budgeted amounts 
are based on projected requirements to keep the roadway in good condition and, therefore, the 
expenses related to preservation can vary significantly from year to year.  Preservation expense 
increased 44% in fiscal year 2020 and then decreased 32% in fiscal year 2021. Fiscal year 2021’s 
expense is comparable to where it was two years ago. These peaks and valleys are expected as 
the system matures, and sections need additional attention. 
 
Other expenses are expenses that were not part of CFX’s OM&A budget, but also were not 
capitalized.  These expenses are expected to fluctuate from year to year depending upon the 
amount spent on non-capitalized projects. Other expenses decreased by 1% between fiscal years 
2019 and 2020 and then decreased by 5% between fiscal year 2020 and 2021. Despite the recent 
small decreases, this level of expense is greater than what has been seen historically due to 
additional program support and a rise in new pilot programs and feasibility studies that are not 
eligible to be capitalized. 
 
There were losses in capital assets in fiscal year 2020 and a small gain in fiscal year 2021. There 
have been various bridges, signs and toll plaza lanes removed and/or demolished to make way 
for road widening, extension and interchange projects over the past few fiscal years.  The largest 
contributing factor to the fiscal year 2020 loss is writing off signs that needed to be replaced. In 
fiscal year 2021 some accumulated depreciation was written off, which resulted in the small gain. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets - CFX’s investment in capital assets amounted to $5,271,214,000 net of 
accumulated depreciation as of June 30, 2021, an increase of $169,395,000 (3%) over June 30, 
2020. CFX’s investment in capital assets amounted to $5,101,819,000 net of accumulated 
depreciation as of June 30, 2020, an increase of $270,89,000 (6%) over June 30, 2019. Capital 
assets include right-of-way, roads, bridges, buildings, equipment and furniture. A schedule of the 
change in CFX’s capital assets is in Note 4 of the financial statements. 
 
Major capital asset events during fiscal year 2021 included the following: 
 

• Completion of the 408/I-4 interchange project. 
• Completion of the toll collection system upgrade and replacement project. 
• Completion of SR 417 widening from Econlockhatchee Trail to the Orange/Seminole 

County line. 
• Several SR 417 widening projects were started. 
• Widening on SR 538 from Ronald Reagan Parkway to the Cypress Parkway was started. 
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Modified Approach for Infrastructure Assets - CFX has elected to use the modified 
approach for infrastructure reporting.  This means that, in lieu of reporting depreciation on 
infrastructure, CFX reports as preservation expense the costs associated with maintaining the 
existing roadway in good condition.  CFX’s policy is to maintain the roadway condition at a 
Maintenance Rating Program rating of 80 or better.  The Florida Department of Transportation 
(“FDOT”) annually inspects CFX’s roadways and has determined in fiscal year 2021 that all its 
roadways exceed this standard.  Pursuant to its bond covenants, CFX maintains a renewal and 
replacement fund for these preservation expenditures.  For fiscal year 2020, projected expenses 
for preservation were $51,040,000 with $31,002,000 being spent. For fiscal year 2021, projected 
expenses for preservation were $33,064,000 with $20,929,000 being spent. The expenses were 
lower than projected in fiscal year 2021 due to slower than anticipated start dates on several 
projects.  
 
Long-term Debt - CFX has outstanding bonds payable of $3,469,181,000 (net of unamortized 
bond premiums and discounts) as of June 30, 2021.  
 
During fiscal year 2021, CFX issued $155,915,000 of fixed rate refunding revenue bonds (Series 
2020A) for the purpose of refunding the series 2010B and 2013C bonds. Also, CFX issued 
$548,175,000 of fixed rate revenue refunding bonds (Series 2021) for the purpose refunding the 
remaining series 2008 variable rate bonds. Also, CFX issued $88,135,000 of fixed rate refunding 
revenue bonds (Series 2021B) for the purpose of refunding a portion of the series 2012 bonds. 
Finally, CFX issued $53,145,000 of fixed rate refunding revenue bonds (Series 2021C) for the 
purpose of refunding a portion of the series 2013B bonds. 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all revenue bonds and revenue refunding bonds outstanding 
as of June 30, 2021, along with more detailed information on long-term debt activity, can be found 
in Note 5, Long-Term Debt, which begins on page 32 of the financial statements. Of the 
approximately $3.5 billion in outstanding bonds, $0 are variable rate bonds as CFX was able to 
eliminate all variable rate bond debt in fiscal year 2021. 
 
To determine the fair market value of its interest rate exchange agreements in prior years, CFX’s 
swap advisor performed a calculation based upon expected forward LIBOR swap rates and 
discounted cash flows.  In the event of a termination, on a current market-to-market basis, CFX 
would have had to make an estimated termination payment of approximately $230,129,177 as of 
June 30, 2020 on the swaps related to the Series 2008B Bonds. That liability was reduced to zero 
as of June 30, 2021. 
 

 June 30, 2021  June 30, 2020 
Series 2008B $                          0         $         230,129,177 

 
CFX’s debt service ratio changed to 2.03 for fiscal year 2021 from 2.02 for fiscal year 2020 and 
2.33 in fiscal year 2019. Fiscal Year 2021 had a marginal increase resulting from an increase in 
toll revenue but also an increase in debt service payments. The decrease in fiscal year 2020 is 
due to a reduction in toll revenue and an increase in debt service payments.   
 
CFX has a Lease-Purchase Agreement (LPA) with the FDOT whereby the FDOT is required to 
reimburse CFX for the maintenance and operation costs associated with certain portions of the 
roadways and toll plazas on CFX’s System.  During fiscal years 2012 and 2013, FDOT did not 
reimburse CFX for the operations portion of their obligation because the Governor of Florida 
exercised his line-item veto authority to remove that line from the state’s budget.  During fiscal 
year 2013, CFX and FDOT amended the LPA under which the FDOT agreed to uphold its 
obligation for operations and maintenance costs provided CFX agrees to repay those funds to the 
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FDOT within 60 days.  CFX plans to repay those funds in accordance with its Master Bond 
Resolution, which permits such payments provided that CFX is able to fund its OM&A budget, 
debt service requirements, required reserve deposits, and renewal and replacement fund 
requirements. The FDOT reimbursement is taken into consideration when calculating CFX’s debt 
service ratio.   
 
CFX’s bond ratings as of June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  Ratings 
   
Standard & Poor’s  A+ 
Moody’s  A1 
Fitch  A+ 

 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of CFX’s finances for all those with 
an interest in its finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Chief Financial Officer, 
Central Florida Expressway Authority, 4974 ORL Tower Road, Orlando, FL 32807. 
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Balance Sheets

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 321,307 $ 148,759
Investments 232,435 248,708
Accrued interest and accounts receivable 37,543 17,263
Prepaid expenses 3,586 3,699
Due from governmental agencies 8,540 7,173
Inventory 1,499 1,655

Total current unrestricted assets 604,910 427,257

Restricted assets:
  Current restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 188,927 179,062

Total current assets 793,837 606,319

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 171,147        243,411        
Investments 197,270 320,362
Accrued interest receivable and prepaid expenses 64 65

Total noncurrent restricted assets 368,481 563,838

Prepaid bond insurance 4,459 2,604

Total noncurrent assets before capital assets 372,940 566,442

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Infrastructure 4,851,847 4,465,708
Construction in progress 224,079 505,997

Capital assets - net of accumulated depreciation:
Property and equipment 195,288 130,114

Total capital assets - net of
    accumulated depreciation 5,271,214 5,101,819

Total noncurrent assets 5,644,154 5,668,261

Total assets 6,437,991 6,274,580

Deferred outflow of resources 306,065 392,764

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 6,744,056 $ 6,667,344

(in thousands)

June 30,
2021 2020

See notes to financial statements.  11
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Balance Sheets (continued)

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position

Current liabilities payable from unrestricted assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 16,843          $ 18,838          
Unearned toll revenue 21,091          18,136          
Unearned other revenue 14,790          15,085          
Current portion of due to governmental agencies 5,270            4,117            

Total current liabilities payable from
unrestricted assets 57,994          56,176          

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,609          43,475          
Interest payable 60,208          62,887          
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 80,110          72,700          

Total current liabilities payable from
restricted assets 188,927        179,062        

Total current liabilities 246,921        235,238        

Noncurrent liabilities:
Derivative financial instrument -                230,129        
Revenue bonds payable - less current portion 3,389,071     3,325,414     
Due to governmental agencies - less current portion 202,407        200,210        
Net pension liability 12,012          9,997            

Total noncurrent liabilities 3,603,490     3,765,750     

Total liabilities 3,850,411 4,000,988

Deferred inflow of resources 5,089            5,706            

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 3,855,500     4,006,694     

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 2,126,023     2,064,051     
Restricted for:

Operation, maintenance and administrative reserve 12,552          12,552          
Renewal and replacement reserve 5,414            16,978          

Total restricted net position 17,966          29,530          

Unrestricted 744,567        567,069        

Total net position 2,888,556     2,660,650     

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position $ 6,744,056     $ 6,667,344     

June 30,

(in thousands)
2021 2020

See notes to financial statements.  12



DRAFT
CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Operating revenues:
Toll revenues $ 496,954 $ 451,894
Transponder sales 1,396 820
Fees and other 9,262 14,650

Total operating revenues 507,612 467,364

Operating expenses:
Operations 65,807 64,937
Maintenance 18,552 18,022
Administrative 8,993 8,910
Depreciation 18,615          15,384          
Preservation 20,929 31,002
Other expenses 11,418 12,015

Total operating expenses 144,314 150,270

Operating income 363,298 317,094

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
  Investment income 4,142 21,237
  Gain (loss) on capital assets 177               (2,434)           
  Other nonoperating 409               452               
  Goldenrod Road Extension - net 1,308            1,491            
  Interest expense (141,428)       (134,089)       

          Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (135,392) (113,343)

Change in net position 227,906 203,751

Net position at beginning of year 2,660,650 2,456,899

Net position at end of year $ 2,888,556 $ 2,660,650

June 30,

(in thousands)
2021 2020

See notes to financial statements.  13



DRAFT
CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY

Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users $ 491,228 $ 467,529
Payments to suppliers (117,283)       (123,582)       
Payments to employees (6,406)           (6,226)           

Net cash provided by operating activities 367,539        337,721        

Capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (182,688)       (267,248)       
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 965,652        676,071        
Interest paid on revenue bonds (152,807)       (104,434)       
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                (108,504)       
Payment of principal on revenue bonds (60,114)         (63,025)         
Payment of principal on government advances (245)              (250)              
Payments on interest rate swap terminations (171,167)       -                
Payment of bond issuance expense (5,768)           -                
Refunding payments on bonds (794,231)       -                

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related
   financing activities (401,368)       132,610        

Investing activities:
Purchase of investments (424,617)       (557,592)       
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 563,982        402,643        
Interest received 4,613            22,240          

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 143,978        (132,709)       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 110,149        337,622        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 571,232        233,610        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 681,381 $ 571,232

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted $ 321,307        $ 148,759        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - current 188,927        179,062        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - noncurrent 171,147        243,411        

$ 681,381 $ 571,232

June 30, 

(in thousands)
2021 2020

See notes to financial statements.  14
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Statements of Cash Flows (continued) 

Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Income from operations $ 363,298 $ 317,094
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 18,615 15,384
Goldenrod Road Extension and other miscellaneous 1,706 2,268

Changes in assets and liabilities:
   Accounts receivable (20,750) (2,349)

Due from governmental agencies (1,367) 5,764
Prepaid expenses 114 (148)
Inventory 156 (393)
Deferred outflows - pension-related (122) 49
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,995) 574
Due to governmental agencies 3,595 (2,349)
Unearned toll revenue 2,955 589
Unearned other revenue (295) (343)
Net pension liability 2,015 1,685
Deferred inflows - pension-related (386) (104)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 367,539 $ 337,721

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
      Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments $ (8,231)           $ 5,955            
      Increase (decrease) in fair value of derivative financial instrument (58,955) $ 52,645

June 30,

(in thousands)
2021 2020

See notes to financial statements.  15
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Reporting Entity - The Central Florida Expressway Authority (CFX) is an agency of the state, 
created by the Florida Legislature. On June 20, 2014, the Governor of Florida signed the bill to 
create CFX, which assumed the governance and control of the former Orlando-Orange County 
Expressway Authority, including its assets, personnel, contracts, obligations, liabilities, facilities 
and tangible and intangible property.  CFX is an independent, locally controlled transportation 
authority responsible for the construction, maintenance and operation of toll roads in Seminole, 
Lake, Osceola and Orange Counties, and may also acquire, construct and equip rapid transit, 
trams and fixed guideways within the rights-of-way of the expressway system. The governing 
board of CFX is made up of ten members, consisting of: (a) one member each appointed by the 
respective chairs of the county commissions of Brevard, Lake, Osceola and Seminole Counties; 
(b) one member of the Orange County Commission appointed by the mayor of Orange County 
(c) three citizens appointed by the Governor; (d) the Mayor of Orange County; and (d) the 
Mayor of the City of Orlando. The Florida Turnpike Enterprise Executive Director serves as a 
non-voting advisor. CFX is authorized to issue revenue bonds to finance portions of the System 
and to execute the refunding of existing revenue bonds. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, CFX is a stand-alone entity; there are no component units 
included in the accompanying financial statements, and CFX is not considered a component 
unit of another entity. 
 
Basis of Accounting - CFX prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America for proprietary funds, which are similar to those for private business enterprises.  
Accordingly, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred. 
 
The assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, and net position of CFX are reported 
in a self-balancing set of accounts, which include restricted and unrestricted resources, 
representing funds available for support of CFX’s operations.  When both restricted and 
unrestricted resources are available for use, it is CFX’s policy to use restricted resources first for 
their intended purpose, and then unrestricted resources, as they are needed. 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses - CFX’s operating revenues and expenses consist of 
revenues earned and expenses incurred relating to the operation and maintenance of its 
System.  The Goldenrod Road Extension, which is a project outside the normal course of 
operations, and all other revenues and expenses are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 
 
Lease-Purchase Agreement - Under the requirements of the Lease-Purchase Agreement 
between CFX and the FDOT, dated December 23, 1985, as amended and supplemented, CFX 
is reimbursed by the FDOT for the maintenance costs of SR 528, portions of SR 408, 
improvements to the Airport Interchange at SR 528 and State Road 436 (Semoran Boulevard), 
and the cost of operations of the Conway and Pine Hills Plazas.  However, the reimbursements 
received are recorded as advances from the FDOT and are included in due to governmental 
agencies, since they are to be repaid to the FDOT from future toll revenues after the 
requirements for retirement of bonds and all other obligations have been met. 
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
While CFX’s position has been that the FDOT’s obligations under the Lease-Purchase 
Agreement were not subject to appropriation, the Governor vetoed the operations component of 
the reimbursement for fiscal year 2013.  CFX entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with 
FDOT on February 14, 2013 where it was agreed that commencing in fiscal year 2014 the 
operations and maintenance payments made by the FDOT will be refunded to the FDOT within 
sixty days of payment. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - For purposes of the statements of cash flows, demand deposit 
accounts with commercial banks, and cash invested in commercial money market funds 
(including restricted assets) are considered cash equivalents.  For investments that are held 
separately from the pools, those which are highly liquid (including restricted assets), with an 
original maturity of 90 days or less when purchased or so near their maturity that they present 
insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates, are considered to be 
cash equivalents. 
 
Investments - Investments consist of unrestricted and restricted investments, and are carried at 
fair value, as determined in an active market. 
 
Accounts Receivable - The accrued interest and accounts receivable primarily consists of 
amounts billed to individuals via one or more Pay by Plate invoices for tolls not paid at the point 
of System use.  This item also includes interest earned but not paid by the end of the fiscal year, 
or amounts due from individuals or other entities for prepaid items or for services provided.  This 
amount is recorded at the net realizable value; therefore, a provision for doubtful accounts has 
been made for the estimated amount of uncollectible Pay by Plate invoices based on historical 
information. 
 
Inventory - Inventory, which consists of E-PASS transponders that will be distributed to 
customers, is carried at the lower-of-cost or market and is valued using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. 
 
Restricted Assets - Restricted assets of CFX represent bond proceeds designated for 
construction, and other monies required to be restricted for debt service, operations, mainte-
nance, administration, renewal and replacement. 
 
Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources - In addition to assets, CFX reports a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources on its balance sheets.  Deferred outflows of resources 
represent a consumption of net position that applies to future periods and will not be recognized 
as an outflow of resources (expense) until then.  CFX has three items that qualify for reporting 
as deferred outflows of resources. 

 
Accumulated Decrease in Fair Value of Hedging Derivatives - As described in Note 5, 
CFX has entered into interest rate swap agreements that qualify as effective cash flow 
hedges in connection with variable rate bonds.  The fair value of the swaps is presented 
on the balance sheets as a deferred outflow of resources and a derivative financial 
instrument liability in the amount of $0 and $230,129,000 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, with changes in valuation applied to these balance sheet accounts.  Should 
the swaps be terminated prior to their expected conclusion, or if the hedges cease to 
significantly reduce risk, accumulated gains or losses will be reported on the operating 
statement.  
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources (Continued) 

 
Deferred Outflow on Refunding of Revenue Bonds - The difference between the re-
acquisition price and the net carrying amount of refunded bonds is presented on the 
balance sheets at June 30, 2021 and 2020 as a deferred outflow of resources in the 
amount of $301,415,000 and $158,106,000, respectively, and is amortized as an 
adjustment to interest expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the refunded 
bonds or the life of the refunding bonds, whichever is shorter. 
 
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions - These deferred outflows of resources are an 
aggregate of items related to pensions as calculated in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions.   The deferred 
outflows related to pensions totaled $4,650,000 and $4,528,000 at June 30, 2021 and 
2020, respectively, and will be recognized as either pension expense or a reduction in 
the net pension liability in future reporting years.  Details on the composition of the 
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are further discussed in Note 8. 

 
In addition to liabilities, CFX reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources on its 
balance sheets.  Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that 
applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until then.  CFX 
has two items that qualify for reporting as deferred inflows of resources. 
 

Deferred Inflow on Interest Rate Exchange - During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, 
CFX entered into six mandatory, cash-settled interest rate exchange agreements, the 
purpose of which was to lock in the interest rate associated with the Series 2007A 
Bonds.  The result of these agreements was an $8,078,000 net payment to CFX on 
June 28, 2007, which is presented on the balance sheets at June 30, 2021 and 2020 as 
a deferred inflow of resources in the amount of $4,847,000 and $5,078,000, respectively, 
and is amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the bonds. 
 
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions - These deferred inflows of resources are an 
aggregate of items related to pensions as calculated in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. The deferred 
inflows related to pensions at June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $242,000 and $628,000, 
respectively, and will be recognized as a reduction to pension expense in future 
reporting years.  Details on the composition of the deferred outflows of resources related 
to pensions are further discussed in Note 8. 
 

Capital Assets  
 

Cost Basis - Capital assets are recorded at historical cost with the exception of donated 
capital assets, which are reported at acquisition value.  The cost of property and 
equipment includes costs for infrastructure assets (right-of-way, highways and bridges 
substructure, and highways and bridges), toll equipment, buildings, toll facilities, other 
related costs (including software) and furniture and equipment.  Highways and bridges 
substructure includes road sub-base, grading, land clearing, embankments and other 
related costs.  Costs for infrastructure assets include construction costs, design and 
engineering fees, administrative and general expenses paid from construction monies, 
and bond interest expense incurred during the period of construction. 
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Capital Assets (Continued)  
 

Capitalization Policy - Costs to acquire additional capital assets, and to replace existing 
assets or otherwise prolong their useful lives, are capitalized for toll equipment, 
buildings, toll facilities, other related costs, and furniture and equipment.  Under CFX’s 
policy of accounting for infrastructure assets pursuant to the “modified approach,” 
property costs represent a historical accumulation of costs expended to acquire rights-
of-way and to construct, improve and place in operation the various projects and related 
facilities.  It is CFX’s policy to capitalize amounts equal to or in excess of $5,000. 
 
Depreciation Policy - Depreciation of toll equipment, buildings, toll facilities, other related 
costs, signs, software, and furniture and equipment is computed using the straight-line 
method with a half-year convention over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows: 
 
 

Under the modified approach, infrastructure assets are considered to be “indefinite lived” 
assets; that is, the assets themselves will last indefinitely and are, therefore, not 
depreciated.  Costs related to maintenance, renewal and replacement for these assets 
are not capitalized, but instead are considered to be period costs and are included in 
preservation expense. 
 
Construction in Progress - Construction in progress represents costs incurred by CFX for 
in-process activities designed to expand, replace or extend useful lives of existing 
property and equipment. 

 
Retainage Payable - Retainage payable represents amounts billed to CFX by 
contractors/consultants for which payment is not due pursuant to retained percentage provisions 
in various contracts until performance is accepted by CFX. 
 
Compensated Absences - Accumulated vacation pay, vested sick pay, and other 
compensation payable to employees is recorded and included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities. The balance of compensated absences had a net increase of $212,000 from June 30, 
2020 to June 30, 2021. 
 
  

Software 3 years 
Furniture and equipment 
Toll equipment 
Signs 
Buildings, toll facilities and other 

7 years 
8 years 

20 years 
30 years   
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Bond Premium, Discount, and Prepaid Bond Insurance Costs - Bond premium, discount, 
and prepaid bond insurance costs associated with the issuance of bonds are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the bonds, which approximates the effective interest method.  
Bond premiums and discounts are presented as an addition and a reduction, respectively, of the 
face amount of revenue bonds payable whereas prepaid bond insurance costs are recorded as 
assets. 
 
Restricted Net Position - Restricted net position is comprised of amounts reserved for 
operations, maintenance, administrative expenses and renewals and replacements in 
accordance with bond covenants. 
 
Pensions - In the balance sheets, net pension liability represents CFX’s proportionate share of 
the net pension liability of the cost-sharing pension plans in which it participates.  This 
proportionate amount represents a share of the present value of projected benefit payments to 
be provided through the cost-sharing pension plan to current active and inactive employees that 
is attributed to those employees’ past periods of service (total pension liability), less the amount 
of the cost-sharing pension plan’s fiduciary net position. 
 
CFX participates in both the Florida Retirement System (FRS) defined benefit pension plan and 
the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS) defined benefit pension plan administered 
by the Florida Division of Retirement (collectively, FRS/HIS). 
 
For purposes of measuring CFX’s net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of FRS/HIS and additions to/deductions from FRS/HIS’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by FRS/HIS.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting - CFX abides by the following procedures in establishing 
budgetary data: 
 

On or before February 1 of each year, CFX completes a review of its financial condition for 
the purpose of estimating whether the gross revenues, together with series payments, 
system payments and supplemental payments, if any, for the ensuing fiscal year will be 
sufficient to provide at least 120% of the annual debt service requirements of the bonds and 
that gross revenues will be sufficient to pay all other amounts required by the Master Bond 
Resolution, as amended and restated. 
 
In the event that CFX determines that revenues will not be sufficient to satisfy the above 
payments, CFX will conduct a study to determine the toll revenue rate increase required to 
restore the revenue deficiency. 
 
All schedules of toll revenues and revisions thereof are filed with the FDOT. 
 
On or before April 1 of each year, a preliminary budget is prepared for maintenance, 
operations and administrative expenses for the ensuing fiscal year.  The preliminary budget 
is reviewed by the FDOT and modified, if necessary. 
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Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting (Continued) 

 
On or before July 1 of each year, a final budget of maintenance, operations and 
administrative expenses is adopted subject to approval by the FDOT. 
 
CFX may adopt an amended or supplemental annual budget for the remainder of a fiscal 
year subject to approval by the FDOT. 

 
Reclassifications - Certain amounts in the 2020 financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the 2021 classifications. 
 
 
Note 2 - Deposits and Investments 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Investment Portfolio 
 
Pursuant to Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, CFX has formally adopted a comprehensive 
investment policy most recently reviewed on April 2, 2018, which establishes permitted 
investments, asset allocation limits and issuer limits, credit rating requirements and maturity 
limits to protect CFX’s cash and investment assets. CFX maintains a common cash and 
investment pool for the use of all funds. In addition, cash and investments are separately held 
by CFX’s bond proceeds/construction, debt service, capitalized interest, and debt service 
reserve funds. 
 
The following chart outlines the types of permitted investments, credit quality risk rating 
requirements by security type, the maximum concentration of credit risk by percentage of the 
total portfolio that may be invested in a single issuer and in total by security type and maturity 
limits prescribed to mitigate interest rate risk exposure: 
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Permitted Investments 

Sector 
Sector 

Maximum 
(%) 

Per Issuer 
Maximum  

(%) 
Minimum Ratings Requirement1 Maximum 

Maturity 

Master 
Bond 

Resolution 
Permitted 

Investments 
U.S. Treasury 

 

100% 

100% 

N/A 

5.50 Years 
(5.50 Years 

avg. life4  
for GNMA) 

X 

GNMA 
 40% X 

Other U.S. Government 
Guaranteed (e.g. AID, GTC) 

 
10% X 

Federal Agency/GSE: 
FNMA, FHLMC, FHLB, FFCB* 

 75% 

40%3 

N/A 5.50 Years 

X 

Federal Agency/GSE  
other than those above 

 
10% X 

Supranationals 
where U.S. is a shareholder 

and voting member 
 

25% 10% Highest ST or Two Highest LT Rating Categories  
(A-1/P-1, AAA/Aaa, or equivalent) 5.50 Years  

Corporates 50%2 5% Highest ST or Three Highest LT Rating Categories 
(A-1/P-1, A-/A3 or equivalent) 5.50 Years  

Municipals 25% 5% Highest ST or Three Highest LT Rating Categories  
 (SP-1/MIG 1, A-/A3, or equivalent) 5.50 Years X 

Agency Mortgage-Backed 
Securities (MBS) 

 
25% 40%3 N/A 5.50 Years  

Avg. Life4  

Asset-Backed Securities (ABS) 25% 5% Highest ST or LT Rating 
(A-1+/P-1, AAA/Aaa, or equivalent) 

5.50 Years  
Avg. Life4  

Depository Accounts with 
Qualified Public Depositories 

 
75% 50% N/A N/A X 

Non-Negotiable Collateralized 
Bank Deposits or Savings 

Accounts 
 

50% None, if fully 
collateralized None, if fully collateralized. 2 Years X 

Commercial Paper (CP) 50%2 5% Highest ST Rating Category  
(A-1/P-1, or equivalent) 270 Days X 

Bankers’ Acceptances (BAs) 10%2 5% Highest ST Rating Category  
(A-1/P-1, or equivalent) 180 Days X 

Repurchase Agreements 
(Repo or RP) 40% 20% 

Counterparty (or if the counterparty is not rated by an 
NRSRO, then the counterparty’s parent) must be rated 

in the Highest ST Rating Category 
(A-1/P-1, or equivalent) 

If the counterparty is a Federal Reserve Bank, no rating 
is required 

1 Year X 

Money Market Funds (MMFs) 50% 25% Highest Fund Rating by all NRSROs who rate the fund 
(AAAm/Aaa-mf, or equivalent) N/A X 

Fixed-Income Mutual Funds 
 25% 10% N/A 3 Years  

Intergovernmental Pools 
(LGIPs) 50% 25% 

Highest Fund Quality and Volatility Rating Categories 
by all NRSROs who rate the LGIP,  
(AAAm/AAAf, S1, or equivalent) 

N/A  
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Sector 
Sector 

Maximum 
(%) 

Per Issuer 
Maximum  

(%) 
Minimum Ratings Requirement1 Maximum 

Maturity 

Master 
Bond 

Resolution 
Permitted 

Investments 
Florida Local Government 
Surplus Funds Trust Funds 

(“Florida Prime”) 
25% N/A Highest Fund Rating by all NRSROs who rate the fund 

(AAAm/Aaa-mf, or equivalent) N/A X 

Notes: 
1 Rating by at least one SEC-registered Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (“NRSRO”), unless otherwise noted.  ST=Short-term; 

LT=Long-term. 
2 Maximum allocation to all corporate and bank credit instruments is 50% combined. 
3 Maximum exposure to any one Federal agency, including the combined holdings of Agency debt and Agency MBS, is 40%. 
4 The maturity limit for MBS and ABS is based on the expected average life at time of settlement, measured using Bloomberg or other industry standard 

methods.  
* Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA); Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC); Federal Home Loan Bank or its District banks 

(FHLB); Federal Farm Credit Bank (FFCB). 

 
Additionally, investments in any derivative products or the use of reverse repurchase 
agreements are specifically prohibited, unless permitted in Section XV of CFX’s Investment 
Policy. 
 
Deposits 
 
On June 30, 2021, the carrying amount of CFX’s various deposits accounts was $681,380,292.  
CFX’s cash deposits are held by banks that qualify as public depositories under the Florida 
Security for Public Deposits Act, as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 
 
Investments 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – The following is the percent of any issuer with whom CFX had 
invested more than 5% of the total portfolio as of June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Issuer 2021 2020

Federal National Mortgage Association 8.31% N/A
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 13.75% N/A

 
 
Interest Rate Risk - CFX’s Investment Policy states that portfolios shall be managed in such a 
manner that funds are available to meet reasonably anticipated cash flow requirements in an 
orderly manner.  To the extent possible, an attempt will be made to match investment maturities 
with known cash needs. Investments of current operating funds shall have maturities of no 
longer than 24 months. Investments of debt obligation reserves, construction funds and other 
non-operating funds shall have a term appropriate to the need for funds and in accordance with 
debt covenants. The purchase of investments for core funds with maturities longer than five and 
a half (5.5) years requires CFX’s approval prior to purchase.  However, final maximum maturity 
for any investment is limited to ten (10) years.    



DRAFT
 CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

24 
 

 
Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

CFX uses the distribution of maturities to manage interest rate risk. As of June 30, 2021, 35% of 
CFX’s investments had a maturity of less than 6 months, 5% had a maturity of 6 to 12 months, 
28% had a maturity of 1 to 2 years, 23% had a maturity of 2 to 3 years, 4% had a maturity of 3 
to 4 years, and 5% had a maturity of over 4 years. As of June 30, 2020, 23% of CFX’s 
investments had a maturity of less than 6 months, 36% had a maturity of 6 to 12 months, 19% 
had a maturity of 1 to 2 years, 17% had a maturity of 2 to 3 years, 2% had a maturity of 3 to 4 
years, and 3% had a maturity of over 4 years. 
 
Total distributions of maturities are as follows: 
 

Less than 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 3 3+
6 months  months years years years Total

US Treasury Securities 30,392$       2,361$        58,670$    6,704$      2,476$       100,603$    
Federal Instruments -              2,463          30,636      49,806      16,112       99,017        
Corporate Note 19,430         -              27,581      29,086      4,873         80,970        
Commercial Paper 100,868       13,987        -            -            -            114,855      
Municipal Bond Note -              976             2,644        5,923        704            10,247        
Corp. Asset Backed Sec. -              167             1,012        8,290        14,545       24,014        

Total 150,690$     19,954$      120,543$  99,809$    38,710$     429,706$    

As of June 30, 2021
(in thousands)

 
 

Less than 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 3 3+
6 months  months years years years Total

US Treasury Securities 17,008$       170,446$    80,621$    49,585$    -$          317,660$    
Federal Instruments -              6,354          6,709        18,787      13,754       45,604        
Corporate Note 7,426           24,875        18,893      20,079      2,279         73,552        
Commercial Paper 103,123       2,993          -            -            -            106,116      
Municipal Bond Note -              -              -            1,766        57              1,823          
Corp. Asset Backed Sec. -              282             3,015        6,189        14,829       24,315        

Total 127,557$     204,950$    109,238$  96,406$    30,919$     569,070$    

As of June 30, 2020
(in thousands)
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
Credit Risk and Fair Value Measurement - Total CFX deposits and investments are as 
follows: 
 

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Active Markets for
Identical Assets Similar Assets

June 30, or Liabilities or Liabilities
2021 (Level 1) (Level 2)

United States Treasury Securities 100,603$        100,603$                  
Commercial Paper 114,855          114,855                    
Federal Instrumentalities 99,017            99,017                      
Money Market Mutual Funds 224,405          224,405                    
Municipal Bond Note 10,247            10,247                      
Corporate Note 80,970            80,970                      
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 24,014            -                            24,014$                   

Total investments by fair value measure 654,111          630,097$                  24,014$                   
Total deposits 456,975          

Total deposits and investments 1,111,086       
Restricted 557,344          

Unrestricted 553,742$        

Fair Value Measurements Using
(in thousands)
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Active Markets for
Identical Assets Similar Assets

June 30, or Liabilities or Liabilities
2020 (Level 1) (Level 2)

United States Treasury Securities 317,660$        317,660$                  
Commercial Paper 106,116          106,116                    
Federal Instrumentalities 45,604            45,604                      
Money Market Mutual Funds 152,540          152,540                    
Municipal Bond Note 1,823              1,823                        
Corporate Note 73,551            73,551                      
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 24,316            -                            24,316$                   

Total investments by fair value measure 721,610          697,294$                  24,316$                   
Total deposits 418,692          

Total deposits and investments 1,140,302       
Restricted 742,835          

Unrestricted 397,467$        

Fair Value Measurements Using
(in thousands)

 
Securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for similar assets or liabilities.  
 
Federal Instrumentalities, and U.S. Government Supported Corporate Debt Notes/Bonds are 
rated “AA+” by Standard & Poor’s.  The investments in Municipal Obligations are rated “AA” by 
Standard & Poor’s.  The Corporate Notes Standard & Poor’s credit ratings are “AAA”, “AA+”, 
“AA”, “AA-”, “A+”, and “A”.  The Commercial Paper is rated “A-1+” and “A-1” by Standard & 
Poor’s.  The Florida PRIME and Money Market Mutual Funds are rated “AAAm” by Standard & 
Poor’s. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk - All CFX depositories are members of the State of Florida collateral 
pool.  The State of Florida collateral pool is a multiple, financial institution collateral pool with the 
ability to make additional assessments to satisfy the claims of governmental entities if any 
member institution fails.  This ability provides protection, which is similar to depository 
insurance. 
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
CFX’s Investment Policy requires execution of a third-party custodial safekeeping agreement for 
all purchased securities and requires that securities be designated as an asset of CFX.  
 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, all of CFX’s securities were held in a bank’s trust/custodial 
department in CFX’s name. 
 
Restricted Cash and Investments - Cash, cash equivalents and investments restricted in 
accordance with bond provisions and other agreements are as follows: 
 

2021 2020

Reserve funds:
Operations, maintenance and administrative reserve 12,552$       12,552$       
Renewal and replacement reserve 5,414           16,978         
   Total reserve funds 17,966         29,530         

Bond funds:
Principal and interest accounts 138,114       137,740       
Reserve accounts 128,186       127,990       
   Total bond funds 266,300       265,730       

Construction funds:
2019 construction funds 273,078       447,576       
   Total construction funds 273,078       447,576       

Total restricted cash, cash equivalents
and investments 557,344       742,836       

Portion related to cash and cash equivalents 360,073       422,474       
Portion related to investments 197,271$     320,362$     

June 30,

(in thousands)
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Note 3 - Due From Governmental Agencies 
 

Due from governmental agencies consists of the following: 
 

2021 2020

E-ZPass - E-Zpass Customers' use of E-PASS Roads 1,583$         571$            
Florida Department of Transportation - Operations and
    Maintenance Reimbursement 1,054           1,114           
Florida Department of Transportation - SunPass Customers'
    use of E-PASS Roads 4,594           4,373           
Florida's Turnpike Enterprise - SR 417 Widening Reimbursement -               178              
Lee County - LeeWay Customers' use of E-PASS Roads 5                  3                  
Orange County - Fines/Fees 298              242              
Orange County - JPA Reimbursement -               389              
Orlando Utilities Commission - SR 528/436 Widening Reimbursement -               292              
Osceola County - CR 532 Widening Reimbursement 990              10                

8,524$         7,172$         
Less current portion (8,524)          (7,172)          

-$             -$             

June 30,

(in thousands)
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Note 4 - Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are summarized as follows (in thousands): 
 

 June 30,
 2020 Additions Reductions Transfers

 June 30,
 2021 

Infrastructure (non-depreciable):
Right-of-way 923,498$         395$             -$              68,382$    992,275$      
Highways and bridges 3,542,210        757               (310)              316,915    3,859,572     

Total infrastructure (non-depreciable) 4,465,708        1,152            (310)              385,297    4,851,847     

Construction in progress (non-depreciable):
Right-of-way 68,938             346               -                (68,382)     902               
Highways and bridges 363,657           155,916        -                (312,910)   206,663        
Buildings and toll facilities 1,183               2,459            -                (3,228)       414               
Toll equipment 49,270             8,633            -                (57,788)     115               
Furniture, equipment and other 22,949             18,827          (25,791)     15,985          

Total construction in progress (non-depreciable) 505,997           186,181        -                (468,099)   224,079        

Property and equipment (depreciable):
Toll equipment 101,986           -                (1,312)           57,788      158,462        
Buildings and toll facilities 164,025           -                -                3,228        167,253        
Furniture, equipment and other 85,767             489               (188)              21,786      107,854        

Total property and equipment (depreciable) 351,778           489               (1,500)           82,802      433,569        

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Toll equipment (96,102)            (5,887)           1,364             -            (100,625)       
Buildings and toll facilities (77,044)            (5,073)           -                -            (82,117)         
Furniture, equipment and other (48,518)            (7,655)           634                -            (55,539)         

Total accumulated depreciation (221,664)          (18,615)         1,998             -            (238,281)       

Total property and equipment
being depreciated, net 130,114           (18,126)         498                82,802      195,288        

Total capital assets 5,101,819$      169,207$      188$              -$          5,271,214$   
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Note 4 - Capital Assets (Continued) 
 

 
 June 30,

 2019 Additions Reductions Transfers
 June 30,

 2020 

Infrastructure (non-depreciable):
Right-of-way 913,613$         91$               (333)$             10,127$    923,498$      
Highways and bridges 3,371,577        4,108            (2,160)            168,685    3,542,210     

Total infrastructure (non-depreciable) 4,285,190        4,199            (2,493)            178,812    4,465,708     

Construction in progress (non-depreciable):
Right-of-way 8,065               71,000          -                (10,127)     68,938          
Highways and bridges 348,888           183,454        -                (168,685)   363,657        
Buildings and toll facilities 1,305               189               -                (311)          1,183            
Toll equipment 46,015             4,082            -                (827)          49,270          
Furniture, equipment and other 8,708               24,432          (10,191)     22,949          

Total construction in progress (non-depreciable) 412,981           283,157        -                (190,141)   505,997        

Property and equipment (depreciable):
Toll equipment 102,204           -                (1,045)            827           101,986        
Buildings and toll facilities 163,649           65                 -                311           164,025        
Furniture, equipment and other 76,005             811               (1,240)            10,191      85,767          

Total property and equipment (depreciable) 341,858           876               (2,285)            11,329      351,778        

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Toll equipment (93,709)            (3,425)           1,032             -            (96,102)         
Buildings and toll facilities (71,878)            (5,166)           -                -            (77,044)         
Furniture, equipment and other (42,712)            (6,776)           970                -            (48,518)         

Total accumulated depreciation (208,299)          (15,367)         2,002             -            (221,664)       

Total property and equipment
being depreciated, net 133,559           (14,491)         (283)               11,329      130,114        

Total capital assets 4,831,730$      272,865$      (2,776)$          -$          5,101,819$   
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Note 4 - Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Goldenrod Project - On March 24, 1999, CFX signed the Goldenrod Road Extension 
Development Agreement (the “Agreement”) for the extension of Goldenrod Road to SR 528 (the 
“Extension”).  The Agreement is between CFX and other local agencies and governments, 
including the City of Orlando (the “City”), Greater Orlando Aviation Authority (“GOAA”) and 
Orange County (the “County”).  Under the Agreement, each of the parties agreed to contribute a 
set amount toward construction of the Extension.  The contributions made by each party for 
construction are as follows: 
 

City of Orlando   $ 2,000,000 
GOAA   $ 4,500,000 
Orange County   $ 1,000,000 
CFX   $ 38,010,458 

 
 
CFX’s responsibilities under the Agreement were to acquire, design and construct the right-of-
way for the Extension.  Construction of the Extension began in January 2001 and opened to 
traffic in March 2004.  Under the terms of the Agreement, toll revenues generated from the 
Extension will be distributed, first to operating cost, then to repay the contributions to each 
contributing party. 
 
The construction costs of the roadway, toll plaza and toll equipment are included in CFX’s 
capital assets.  These assets will remain the property of CFX until the final payments of all 
contributions are made.  Upon the final repayment of all contributions, ownership of the roadway 
will revert to the City and the City will be responsible for all future maintenance costs.  CFX will 
retain ownership of the interchange to SR 528 and certain portions of the right-of-way.  Since 
this project is a non-System project, it is reported net in the non-operating section of the 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The toll revenues generated 
from the Extension are not pledged to CFX’s bond indebtedness. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt 
 
Revenue Bonds Payable - A summary of changes in revenue bonds payable is as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

June 30, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021
Series 2008B1 129,875$     (129,875)   -$                  
Series 2008B2 117,395       (117,395)   -                
Series 2008B3 148,490       (148,490)   -                
Series 2008B4 98,965         (98,965)     -                
Series 2010B 60,760         (60,760)     -                
Series 2012 134,315       (108,635)   25,680          
Series 2012A 42,195         (6,415)       35,780          
Series 2013A 242,320       -            242,320        
Series 2013B 115,725       (68,990)     46,735          
Series 2013C 102,820       (102,820)   -                
Series 2016A 149,495       (795)          148,700        
Series 2016B 621,990       (1,960)       620,030        
Series 2017 339,275       (645)          338,630        
Series 2018 219,035       (3,515)       215,520        
Series 2019A 129,550       (1,180)       128,370        
Series 2019B 441,390       (3,905)       437,485        
Series 2020A 155,915      155,915        
Series 2021 548,175      548,175        
Series 2021B 88,135        88,135          
Series 2021C 53,145        53,145          

3,093,595    845,370      (854,345)   3,084,620     
Add unamortized bond premium 304,519       120,282      (40,240)     384,561        
Less current portion of revenue
   bonds payable (72,700)        (80,110)       72,700       (80,110)         
Revenue bonds payable - 
   net of current portion 3,325,414$  885,542$    (821,885)$ 3,389,071$   
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 

June 30, 2019 Additions Deletions June 30, 2020
Series 2008B1 130,135$     (260)         129,875$      
Series 2008B2 117,685       (290)         117,395        
Series 2008B3 148,790       (300)         148,490        
Series 2008B4 99,165         (200)         98,965          
Series 2010B 67,330         (6,570)      60,760          
Series 2012 157,835       (23,520)    134,315        
Series 2012A 48,200         (6,005)      42,195          
Series 2013A 242,320       242,320        
Series 2013B 135,450       (19,725)    115,725        
Series 2013C 103,740       (920)         102,820        
Series 2016A 150,250       (755)         149,495        
Series 2016B 623,850       (1,860)      621,990        
Series 2017 339,885       (610)         339,275        
Series 2018 221,045       (2,010)      219,035        
Series 2019A -               129,550      129,550        
Series 2019B -               441,390      441,390        

2,585,680    570,940      (63,025)    3,093,595     
Add unamortized bond premium 215,859       105,131      (16,471)    304,519        
Less current portion of revenue
   bonds payable (63,025)        (72,700)       63,025      (72,700)         
Revenue bonds payable - 
   net of current portion 2,738,514$  603,371$    (16,471)$  3,325,414$   

 
  
 
In the 2002 legislative session, the Florida Legislature amended Chapter 348, Part V (now 
Part III of the “Expressway Act”) to, among other things, revise and expand the powers of CFX 
to finance or refinance its projects, including the power to refund bonds previously issued on 
behalf of CFX by the State of Florida Division of Bond Finance of the State Board of 
Administration (Division of Bond Finance), through the issuance of its own bonds or other 
obligations.  Consistent with the authority granted in the Expressway Act, CFX adopted an 
Authority Bond Resolution on July 2, 2002, authorizing the issuance of up to $2,000,000,000 of 
additional bonds or other indebtedness to finance projects of CFX.  Although not required, the 
first issuance of bonds by CFX under the Authority Bond Resolution was validated by the Circuit 
Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in Orange County, Florida, on September 20, 2002. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
On January 28, 2003, the Division of Bond Finance adopted a resolution formally recognizing 
CFX as the issuer of bonds under that certain Master Junior Lien Bond Resolution pursuant to 
which the Division of the Bond Finance had previously issued bonds on behalf of CFX.  CFX 
further adopted, on February 3, 2003, an Amended and Restated Master Bond Resolution 
pursuant to which CFX amended and restated the Authority Bond Resolution and the Master 
Junior Lien Resolution into a single, consolidated, single-lien resolution to govern the existing 
outstanding bonds and future bond indebtedness of CFX.  All bonds or other obligations issued 
under the Amended and Restated Master Bond Resolution are payable from, and secured by, a 
pledge of net revenues from the operation of the System. 
 
As notated in Note 1, on June 20, 2014, the Governor of Florida signed a bill to create CFX, 
which assumed the governance and control of the former Orlando-Orange County Expressway 
Authority, including its assets, personnel, contracts, obligations, liabilities, facilities and tangible 
and intangible property.  Central Florida Expressway Authority assumed all the debt of the 
former Orlando-Orange County Expressway Authority pursuant to Chapter 2014-171, Public 
Laws of Florida. 
  
Fixed Rate Debt 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Taxable Refunding Revenue Bond, Series 2021C, 
was originally issued on June 24, 2021 and was outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 
of $53,145,000 and $0 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively. The bond was issued in the 
form of a bank loan directly with the bondholder, Citizens First Bank. The bond is due in annual 
installments beginning on July 1, 2022 through July 1, 2025 in amounts ranging from 
$1,420,000 to $25,180,000 plus interest.  Interest on the 2021C Bond is due and paid 
semiannually. The 2021C Bond is payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from 
the operation of the expressway System.   The purpose of the Series 2021C Bond was to refund 
a portion of the Series 2013B Bonds for net present value savings of $2,222,586 which 
represents $2,253,5553 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The deferred 
outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $2,633,478. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Taxable Convertible Refunding Revenue Bond, 
Series 2021B, was originally issued on June 24, 2021 and was outstanding in the aggregate 
principal amount of $88,135,000 and $0 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively.  The bond 
was issued in the form of a bank loan directly with the bondholder, Key Government Finance, 
Inc. The bond is due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2022 through July 1, 2025 in 
amounts ranging from $1,780,000 to $28,820,000 plus interest.  Interest on the 2021B Bonds is 
due and paid semiannually. The 2021B Bond is payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net 
revenues from the operation of the expressway System.   The purpose of the Series 2021B 
Bonds was to refund a portion of the Series 2012 Bonds for net present value savings of 
$5,639,891, which represents $5,726,942 of lower debt service payments over the life of the 
debt.  The deferred outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $8,697,527. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2021, were 
originally issued on April 22, 2021 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$548,175,000 and $0 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, all of which were serial bonds.  
The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2022 through 
July 1, 2040 in amounts ranging from $4,300,000 to $62,120,000, plus interest.  The 2021 
Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of the  
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Fixed Rate Debt (Continued) 
 
expressway System.  Interest on the 2021 Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  The purpose of 
the Series 2021 Bonds was to lower the risk profile of CFX’s debt by refunding the remaining 
portions of the Series 2008B variable Bonds and terminate the Swaps associated with them, for 
net present value savings of $1,193,124, which represents $525,607 of higher debt service 
payments over the life of the debt.   
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bond, Series 2020A, was 
originally issued on August 18, 2020 and was outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$155,915,000 and $0 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively. The bond was issued in the form 
of a bank loan directly with the bondholder, STI Institutional & Government, Inc. The bond is due 
in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2032 in amounts ranging from 
$1,230,000 to $56,400,000 plus interest.    The 2020A Bond is payable from, and secured by, a 
pledge of net revenues from the operation of the expressway System.  Interest on the 2020A 
Bond is due and paid semiannually.  The purpose of the Series 2020A Bond was to refund 
portions of the Series 2010B and 2013C Bonds for net present value savings of $11,219,373, 
which represents $12,322,473 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The 
deferred outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $1,046,259. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, were originally issued 
on December 5, 2019 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $128,370,000 
and $129,550,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, including $64,755,000 of serial 
bonds and $63,615,000 of term bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual 
installments beginning on July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2039 in amounts ranging from 
$2,125,000 to $5,015,000, plus interest.  Two term bonds were issued in the amounts of 
$28,535,000 and $35,080,000 and mature July 1, 2044 and July 1, 2049, respectively.  The 
2019A Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of 
the expressway System.  Interest on the 2019A Bonds is due and paid semiannually. The 
purpose of the Series 2019A Bonds was to purchase the Poinciana Parkway System from 
Osceola County. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2019B, were originally issued 
on December 5, 2019 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $437,485,000 
and $441,390,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020, including $214,370,000 of serial bonds and 
$223,115,000 of term bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual installments 
beginning on July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2039 in amounts ranging from $7,020,000 to 
$16,895,000, plus interest.  Two term bonds were issued in the amounts of $98,015,000 and 
$125,100,000 and mature July 1, 2044 and July 1, 2049, respectively.  The 2019B Bonds are 
payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of the expressway 
System.  Interest on the 2019B Bonds is due and paid semiannually. The purpose of the Series 
2019B Bonds was to fund a portion of the Five-Year Work Plan. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Fixed Rate Debt (Continued) 
 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2018, were originally issued 
on November 29, 2018 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$215,520,000 and $219,035,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, including 
$122,025,000 of serial bonds and $93,495,000 of term bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are 
due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2040 in amounts ranging 
from $3,690,000 to $9,325,000, plus interest. Two term bonds were issued in the amounts of 
$30,865,000 and $62,630,000 and mature July 1, 2043 and July 1, 2048, respectively.  The 
2018 Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of 
the expressway System.  Interest on the 2018 Bonds is due and paid semiannually. The 
purpose of the Series 2018 Bonds was to fund a portion of the Five-Year Work Plan.  
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2017, were 
originally issued on December 28, 2017 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 
of $338,630,000 and $339,275,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, including 
$240,520,000 of serial bonds and $98,110,000 of term bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are 
due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2042 in amounts ranging 
from $675,000 to $56,340,000, plus interest.  The term bond is due on July 1, 2041.  The 2017 
Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of the 
expressway System.  Interest on the 2017 Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  The purpose of 
the Series 2017 Bonds was to refund all of the Series 2007A, 2010A, and 2010C Bonds and a 
portion of the 2010B Bonds, for net present value savings of $39,795,910, which represents 
$61,030,269 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The deferred outflow on 
the refunding for accounting purposes was $26,266,627. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, were 
originally issued on November 2, 2016 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 
of $620,030,000 and $621,990,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, all of which were 
serial bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 
2021 through July 1, 2040 in amounts ranging from $2,035,000 to $66,520,000, plus interest.  
The 2016B Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the 
operation of the expressway System.  Interest on the 2016B Bonds is due and paid 
semiannually.  The purpose of the Series 2016B Bonds was to refund portions of the Series 
2007A, 2010A, 2010B and 2010C Bonds for net present value savings of $65,239,436, which 
represents $92,180,668.91 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The 
deferred outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $75,028,080. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Fixed Rate Debt (Continued) 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A, were 
originally issued on April 26, 2016 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$148,700,000 and $149,495,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, all of which were 
serial bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 
2021 through July 1, 2032 and July 1, 2036 through July 1, 2037 in amounts ranging from 
$835,000 to $28,000,000, plus interest.  The 2016A Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a 
pledge of net revenues from the operation of the expressway System.  Interest on the 2016A 
Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  The purpose of the Series 2016A Bonds was to refund a 
portion of the Series 2007A Bonds for net present value savings of $27,251,546, which 
represents $40,378,823 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The deferred 
outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $5,296,435. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2013B, were 
originally issued on January 2, 2013 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$46,735,000 and $115,725,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, all of which were 
serial bonds.  The outstanding serial bonds are due in annual installments on July 1, 2021 
through July 1, 2023 in amounts ranging from $2,475,000 to $22,625,000, plus interest.  The 
2013B Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of 
the expressway System.  Interest on the 2013B Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  The 
Series 2013B Bonds were issued for the purpose of refunding the Series 2003C2 and 2003C4 
Bonds and to fund the termination payments related to the associated swaps.  The refunding 
resulted in a deferred outflow of $42,223,850, most of which was related to the swap termination 
payments.  The difference between the cash flow of the old debt and the cash flow of the new 
debt was $5,959,376 higher post–refunding, which represents $4,868,985 on a net present 
value basis.  The purpose of this refunding was to lower the risk profile of CFX’s debt at an 
attractive rate. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A, were 
originally issued on April 3, 2013 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$242,320,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020, including $110,545,000 of serial bonds and 
$131,775,000 of term bonds.  The serial bonds are due in annual installments beginning on 
July 1, 2026 through July 1, 2032 in amounts ranging from $7,065,000 to $24,875,000, plus 
interest.  The term bond is due on July 1, 2035.  The 2013A Bonds are payable from, and 
secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of the expressway System.  Interest on 
the 2013A Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  The purpose of the Series 2013A Bonds was 
to refund the Series 2003B Bonds for net present value savings of $35,842,015, which 
represents $60,831,999 of lower debt service payments over the life of the debt.  The deferred 
outflow on the refunding for accounting purposes was $2,750,505. 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, were 
originally issued on November 29, 2012 and were outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 
of $25,680,000 and $134,315,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively, all of which were 
serial bonds.  The serial bonds are due on July 1, 2022 for $25,680,000 plus interest.  The 2012 
Bonds are payable from, and secured by, a pledge of net revenues from the operation of the 
expressway System.  Interest on the 2012 Bonds is due and paid semiannually.  See below for 
the purpose, economic and accounting impacts of the refunding. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Fixed Rate Debt (Continued) 
 
The Central Florida Expressway Authority General Reserve Fund Obligation Bond, Series 
2012A, was originally issued on November 29, 2012 and was outstanding in the aggregate 
principal amount of $35,780,000 and $42,195,000 on June 30, 2021 and 2020 respectively. The 
bond was issued in the form of a subordinate bank loan directly with the bondholder, SunTrust 
Bank.  The bond is due in annual installments beginning on July 1, 2020 through July 1, 2025 in 
amounts ranging from $6,415,000 to $8,485,000, plus interest. The 2012A Bond is payable 
from, and secured by, a pledge of the general fund, which is junior and subordinate to the net 
revenues from the operation of the expressway System pledged to senior lien parity bonds.  
Interest on the 2012A Bond is due and paid semiannually. 
 
Collectively, the purpose of the Series 2012 and 2012A Bonds was to refund the Series 2003C1 
and 2003C3 Bonds and to fund the termination payments on the associated swaps.  The 
refunding resulted in a deferred outflow of $60,159,863, most of which was related to the swap 
termination payments.  The difference between the cash flow of the old debt and the cash flow 
of the new debt was $7,202,160 higher post–refunding, which represents $4,712,369 on a net 
present value basis.  The purpose of this refunding was to lower the risk profile of CFX’s debt at 
an attractive rate. 
 
Variable Rate Debt 

On April 22, 2021, CFX issued the Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2021 Bonds which refunded and retired all outstanding variable rate debt. 
 
On May 1, 2008, CFX issued Central Florida Expressway Authority Variable Rate Refunding 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2008B1, 2008B2, 2008B3 and 2008B4 (collectively, “2008B Bonds”), 
for the purpose of refunding the Series 2005A, 2005B, 2005C, 2005D, and 2005E Bonds 
(collectively, “2005 Bonds”), of which $0 was outstanding on June 30, 2021 and $129,875,000, 
$117,395,000, $148,490,000, and $98,965,000 was outstanding on June 30, 2020.  The 2008B 
Bonds were issued in four sub-series in the initial aggregate principal amount of $499,105,000, 
including Series 2008B1 in the initial principal amount of $131,025,000; Series 2008B2 in the 
initial principal amount of $118,500,000; Series 2008B3 in the initial principal amount of 
$149,760,000; and 2008B4 in the initial principal amount of $99,820,000.   
 
The Series 2008B Bonds were dated the date of their original issuance and delivery and had a 
maturity date of July 1, 2040.  The Series 2008B Bonds were initially issued in a variable rate 
mode, with the interest rate on the Series 2008B Bonds resetting on a weekly basis and interest 
payable on a monthly basis.   
 
In fiscal year 2012, the Series 2008B3 and 2008B4 Bonds were converted to a bank rate mode 
and directly placed with the bondholder. In fiscal year 2015, the Series 2008B1 Bonds were 
converted to a bank rate mode and directly placed with the bondholder. In fiscal year 2016, the 
Series 2008B2 Bonds were converted to a bank rate mode and directly placed with the 
bondholder. All 2008B bonds remain in bank purchase mode. The bank rate also resets on a 
weekly basis and is tied to the SIFMA index plus a spread.   
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Variable Rate Debt (Continued) 
 
The 2008B Bonds were subject to optional and mandatory redemption and optional and 
mandatory tender for purchase prior to maturity.  Amortization installments for the mandatory 
redemption of the 2008B Bonds began on July 1, 2014.  All outstanding 2008B Bonds were 
redeemed on April 22, 2021 and are no longer outstanding. 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all revenue bonds and revenue refunding bonds 
outstanding as of June 30, 2021, are summarized as follows (all amounts in thousands).  The 
totals below are net of capitalized interest funds available for debt service.  
 

Principal Interest Total P&I Due Net Due

2022 80,110$       123,364$     203,474$       203,474$      
2023 88,980          128,421       217,401         217,401        
2024 93,270          123,508       216,778         216,778        
2025 96,435          119,563       215,998         215,998        
2026 112,375       116,860       229,235         229,235        

2027-2031 643,495       504,178       1,147,673      1,147,673     
2032-2036 785,680       347,052       1,132,732      1,132,732     
2037-2041 753,160       182,288       935,448         935,448        
2042-2046 260,770       66,944          327,714         327,714        
2047-2051 170,345       15,392          185,737         185,737        

3,084,620$  1,727,570$  4,812,190$   4,812,190$    
 

Hedging Derivative Instruments – Cash Flow Hedges 
 
Variable-to-Fixed Rate Interest Rate Swaps - On July 13, 2004, CFX entered into five 
forward-starting, synthetic fixed rate swap agreements totaling $499,105,000 (“2004 Swaps”), 
attributable to the $199,645,000 Series 2005A Bonds, the $149,760,000 Series 2005B Bonds, 
the $99,820,000 Series 2005C Bonds, the $24,940,000 Series 2005D Bonds, and the 
$24,940,000 Series 2005E Bonds.  On May 1, 2008, all Series 2005 Bonds were redeemed, 
and the 2004 Swaps were then associated with the Series 2008B Refunding Bonds described 
above. On April 22, 2021, CFX issued the Central Florida Expressway Authority Refunding 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 Bonds which terminated all interest rate swaps. 
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Debt Service Reserve Requirements – CFX has purchased surety policies from bond insurers 
for the outstanding 2012, 2013A, 2013B, 2016A, and 2021 Bonds. The Series 2016B and 
Series 2017 Bonds are secured by reserves comprised of a combination of cash and a surety 
policy.  The Series 2018, 2019A, and 2019B Series Bonds are secured by a cash reserve.  The 
2012A, 2020A, 2021B and 2021C Bonds are not secured by a reserve.   Bond covenants do not 
require minimum ratings for providers of surety policies. 
   
Defeased Bonds - In June of 2021 CFX utilized proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2021B 
and 2021C Refunding Bonds to fund an escrow to provide for the payment of principal and 
interest on the refunded Series 2012 and 2013B Bonds as of their call date of July 1, 2022 and 
July 1, 2023.  
 
Principal maturities on those defeased bonds, based on July 1 payments each year, are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 

Year Ending June 30, 
 

2012 Bonds 2013B Bonds Total 

2022  $                84,060   $              -         84,060  

2023                           -  48,360 48,360 

 
  $               84,060   $    48,360     $    132,420  
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Note 5 - Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Due to Governmental Agencies 
 
Due to governmental agencies consists of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021

Advances from FDOT for construction,  operations 
and maintenance of certain plazas and roadways 1,507$          1,424$   (1,507)    1,424$          
Loans and advances for specific projects 200,455        2,413     (246)       202,622        
Toll revenue due to other state agencies 2,364            99,506   (98,239)  3,631            

204,326        103,343  (99,992)  207,677        

Less current portion  (4,117)           (5,270)    4,117     (5,270)           

Due to other governments net of current portion 200,209        98,073   (95,875)  202,407        
 
 
The following is a schedule by years of the minimum future payments on the amounts due to 
governmental agencies (all amounts in thousands): 
 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

 
Amount 

   2022   $ 5,270 
2023  - 
2024  - 
2025  - 
2026  - 

Thereafter  202,407 
      $ 207,677 

 
 
Amounts included in “thereafter” are payable based on future events, as described below: 
   
Included in the Loans and Advances for specific projects is $4,421,000 for advances from the 
Greater Orlando Aviation Authority, the City of Orlando and Orange County for the extension of 
Goldenrod Road.  The extension is a non-System project, and revenues from this project are 
utilized solely to pay expenses for the extension and to reimburse the funding partners, 
including CFX, for their original contribution to the project. Also included in Loans and Advances 
for specific projects is $197,985,482 for a Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation 
Act (TIFIA) loan from the US Department of Transportation.  This loan was secured from 
qualifying expenses for the acquisition of right-of-way and construction of the Wekiva Parkway.  
Principal repayments begin in 2028 and continue through 2049. 
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Note 6 - Leases 
 
Operating Leases - CFX leases excess capacity of the Fiber Optic Network (FON) to Sprint 
Communications Company L.P. The original historic cost of this FON of $19,172,000 is not 
depreciated because its expected life exceeds 100 years.  This is a ten-year lease with two five-
year renewal options followed by three three-year renewal options.  The annual rate of 
$464,640, adjusted annually by the local Consumer Price Index, is presented as miscellaneous 
nonoperating revenues.  If CFX terminates this agreement because of licensee’s (Sprint’s) 
default, the licensee shall pay CFX, as liquidated damages, an amount equal to the minimum 
total fees and charges for the remaining agreement term. There is no termination clause for the 
licensee except by default of CFX.  The first three-year renewal was executed at the end of 
fiscal year 2021. The minimum future rentals for the remaining three fiscal years are $464,640 
per year for the first two years and $425,920 for the third year, for a total of $1,355,200. 
 

Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Commitments - Outstanding construction and other significant commitments for improvements, 
maintenance and operation of the System totaled approximately $831,701,000 at June 30, 
2021. 
 
Pending Litigation - Various lawsuits and claims arising in the ordinary course of CFX’s 
operations are pending against CFX. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
Florida Retirement System (FRS) Pension Plan - Most employees of CFX participate in the 
State of Florida Retirement System (the “FRS”), a multiple-employer, cost-sharing, defined-
benefit retirement plan, or defined-contribution retirement plan, administered by the Florida 
Department of Administration, Division of Retirement.  As a general rule, membership in the 
FRS is compulsory for all employees working in a regular, established position for a state 
agency, county government, district school board, state university, community college or a 
participating city or special district within the state of Florida.  The FRS provides retirement and 
disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments and death benefits to plan members and 
beneficiaries.  Employees are classified in either the regular service class or the senior 
management service class (“SMSC”).  The SMSC is for members who fill senior-level 
management positions.  Employees classified as SMSC may opt out of participation in the FRS.  
Benefits are established by Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 60S, Florida Adminis-
trative Code.  Amendments to the law can be made only by an act of the Florida Legislature. 

 
Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program – Employees of CFX also participate in the 
Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, which is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
defined-benefit pension plan established and administered in accordance with Section 112.363, 
Florida Statutes. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered 
retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs. Eligible retirees and beneficiaries 
receive a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of service credited at retirement 
multiplied by $5. The minimum payment is $30 and the maximum payment is $150 per month, 
pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree 
under one of the state-administered retirement systems must provide proof of eligible health 
insurance coverage, which can include Medicare. 
 
Public Employee Optional Retirement Program - Employees may participate in the Public 
Employee Optional Retirement Program (the “Investment Plan”), a defined-contribution 
retirement program, in lieu of participation in the defined-benefit retirement plan (“Pension 
Plan”).  If the Investment Plan is elected, active membership in the defined-benefit retirement 
plan is terminated.  Eligible members of the Investment Plan are vested at one year of service 
and receive a contribution for self-direction in an investment product with a third-party 
administrator selected by the State Board of Administration.  The contribution rates for both 
fiscal 2021 and 2020 were 6.3% for regular class and 7.67% for senior management class. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Benefits Provided – For employees in FRS, benefits are computed on the basis of age, 
average final compensation and service credit.  Regular class and senior management class 
employees who were enrolled in the FRS prior to July 1, 2011 and retire at or after age 62 with 
at least six years of credited service, or 30 years of service, regardless of age, are entitled to a 
retirement benefit payable monthly for life, based on their final average compensation of their 
five highest fiscal years of pay for each year of credited service.  Employees enrolled on or after 
July 1, 2011 and who retire at or after age 65 with at least eight years of credited service, or 33 
years of service, regardless of age, are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, 
as explained above based on their eight highest fiscal years of pay.  Using their date of 
enrollment as a basis, vested employees with less than the minimum years of service may retire 
before the minimum age and receive reduced retirement benefits.  A post-retirement health 
insurance subsidy is also provided to eligible retired employees through the FRS defined 
benefit, in accordance with Florida Statutes. 
 
In addition to the above benefits, the FRS administers a Deferred Retirement Option Program 
(“DROP”).  This program allows eligible employees to defer receipt of monthly retirement benefit 
payments, while continuing employment with an FRS employer for a period not to exceed 60 
months after electing to participate.  Deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund 
and accrue interest. 
 
Contributions - Starting on July 1, 2011, Chapter 2011-68 of the Laws of Florida required 
members of the FRS not enrolled in DROP to contribute 3% of their salary to their retirement.  
Governmental employers are required to make contributions to the FRS based on statewide 
contribution rates.  The fiscal year 2021 contribution rate applied to regular employee salaries 
was 10.00%, including 1.66% for a post-retirement health insurance subsidy (“HIS”).  The fiscal 
year 2020 contribution rate was 8.47%, which included 1.66% for HIS.  The fiscal year 2021 
contribution rate applied to senior management salaries was 27.29%, including 1.66% HIS.  The 
fiscal year 2020 contribution rate was 25.41%, which included 1.66% for HIS.  The fiscal year 
2021 contribution rate applied to the salaries of the employees in DROP was 16.98%, including 
1.66% for HIS.  The fiscal year 2020 contribution rate was 14.60%, which included 1.66% for 
HIS. 
 
CFX’s actual contributions to the FRS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were 
$1,059,000 and $936,000, respectively.  Employee contributions were $223,000 and $218,000 
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  
 
CFX reported a liability of $12,012,000 and $9,997,000, at June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of FRS and HIS.  The net 
pension liability as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 was measured as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates.  CFX’s proportion of the net pension 
liability was based on CFX’s historical employer contributions to the pension plans for fiscal year 
2019 and 2020 relative to the historical contributions of all participating employers. At June 30, 
2020, CFX’s proportion was 0.02167% and 0.02137% for FRS and HIS, respectively, which was 
a decrease of 0.00042% and a decrease of 0.00007% from its respective proportion measured 
as of June 30, 2019. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

At June 30, 2019, CFX’s proportion was 0.0221% and 0.0214% for FRS and HIS, respectively, 
which was an increase of 0.0016% and an increase of 0.0012% from its respective proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2018. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, CFX recognized a total of $2,472,000 pension expense with 
$2,174,000 and $298,000, for FRS and HIS, respectively.  For the year ended June 30, 2020, 
CFX recognized a total of $2,473,000 pension expense with $2,208,000 and $265,000, for FRS 
and HIS, respectively. 
 
At June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, CFX reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources (in thousands): 
 

  As of June 30, 2021 
  Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows 
  of Resources  of Resources 
Differences between expected and actual     
    experience  $                       467  $                         2 
Changes of assumptions  1,983                     152 
Differences between projected and actual     
    earnings on pension plan investments  561  -  
Changes in proportion  675  88 
CFX contributions subsequent to the     
    measurement date  964  - 
     

Total  $                    4,650  $                       242 
 
 

  As of June 30, 2020 
  Deferred Outflows  Deferred Inflows 
  of Resources  of Resources 
Differences between expected and actual     
    experience  $                       451  $                         8 
Changes of assumptions  2,231                     195 
Differences between projected and actual     
    earnings on pension plan investments  -  419 
Changes in proportion  972  4 
CFX contributions subsequent to the     
    measurement date  844  - 
     

Total  $                    4,498  $                       626 
 
$964,000 and $844,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting 
from CFX contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021 respectively.   
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows (in thousands): 
 

Years Ending    
June 30:  Amount  

2022  $             678  
2023               656  
2024               609  
2025              571  
2026              520  

Thereafter                 410    
 
Actuarial Assumptions – The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, were based on the results of an actuarial experience 
study for the period July 1, 2014 – June 30, 2019. 
 
Valuation date                                                 July 1, 2019  July 1, 2020 
Measurement date                                      June 30, 2019  June 30, 2020 
Inflation                                                          2.60%  2.40% 
Salary increases, including inflation                        3.25%  3.25% 
Mortality                        Generational RP-2000 with      PUB2010 base table varies 
                                   Projection Scale BB    by member category and sex, 
   projected generationally with   
   Scale MP-2018   
Actuarial Cost Method                      Individual Entry Age  Individual Entry Age 
 
The long-term expected rate of return, net of investment expense on pension plan investments 
was 6.80% and 6.90% as of June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 respectively.  This rate was 
determined using a forward-looking capital market economic model. The table below shows the 
assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that time based on 
the long-term target asset allocation.  The allocation policy’s description of each asset class was 
used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below.  Each asset class 
assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes an adjustment 
for the inflation assumption. The expected real rate of return is presented in arithmetic means. 
 
 

    Annual 
  Target  Arithmetic 
Asset Class  Allocation  Return 
Cash  1%  2.2% 
Fixed Income  19%  3.0% 
Global equity  54%  8.0% 
Real Estate (property)                    10%                  6.4% 
Private equity                    11%  10.8% 
Strategic investments  5%  5.5% 
     

Total  100.00%   
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.80% and 
6.90% for FRS for June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 respectively. The discount rate used to 
measure the total pension liability was 2.21% and 3.50% for HIS as of June 30, 2020 and June 
30, 2019 respectively. For FRS, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, 
the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate 
of return.  Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion 
date is considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the 
municipal bond rate selected by the plan sponsor. 
 
Sensitivity of CFX’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate – The following presents CFX’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
calculated using the discount rate of 6.80% and 6.90% for FRS for June 30, 2020 and June 30, 
2019 respectively. The discount rate of 2.21% and 3.50% was used for HIS for June 30, 2020 
and June 30, 2019 respectively. The following also presents what CFX’s proportionate share of 
the net pension liability would be at June 30, 2021 and 2020 if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the respective 
current rate: 
 

  As of June 30, 2021 

  
 

FRS 
    Current Discount   
  1% Decrease  Rate  1% Increase 
  5.8%  6.8%  7.8% 
CFX's proportionate share of the       
  net pension liability (asset)   $           15,004,438   $              9,396,379   $        4,712,504 
              
  HIS 
    Current Discount   
  1% Decrease  Rate  1% Increase 
  1.21%  2.21%  3.21% 
CFX's proportionate share of the       
  net pension liability (asset)   $            3,026,081    $               2,617,818    $          2,283,656  

 

 
  

  As of June 30, 2020 

  
 

FRS 
    Current Discount    
  1% Decrease  Rate  1% Increase 
  5.9%  6.9%  7.9% 
CFX's proportionate share of the       
  net pension liability (asset)   $           13,151,181   $              7,607,701   $        2,977,957 
       
       
  HIS 
    Current Discount   
  1% Decrease  Rate  1% Increase 
  2.50%  3.50%  4.50% 
CFX's proportionate share of the       
  net pension liability (asset)   $            2,729,721    $               2,391,238    $          2,109,321  
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Change in Net Pension Liability - The following is a summary of changes in net pension 
liability (in thousands): 

 
June 30, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021 

Due Within 
One year 

      
Net pension liability $          9,997 $      6,782 $      4,767              $          12,012  $               - 
      
 

 
June 30, 2019 Additions Deletions June 30, 2020 

Due Within 
One year 

      
Net pension liability $          8,312 $      6,883         $      5,198              $           9,997  $               - 
      
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about FRS and HIS fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued FRS financial report.  The latest available report 
may be obtained by writing to the Department of Management Services, Office of the Secretary, 
4050 Esplanade Way, Tallahassee, FL 32399-0950 or from the website: 
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications 
 
 
Note 9 - Risk Management 
 
CFX is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters for which CFX 
purchases commercial insurance. 
 
No settlements have exceeded coverage levels in place during 2019, 2020 and 2021. 
 
CFX is covered by the State of Florida’s State Group Insurance program, a risk management 
pool to which risk is transferred in exchange for annual premium payments. 
 

Note 10 – Subsequent Events 
 
On July 1, 2021, CFX used legally available moneys on hand to defease all its then-outstanding 
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A balance of $242,320,000. 
 
On July 28, 2021, CFX issued Central Florida Expressway Authority Senior Lien Revenue 
Series 2021D Bonds in the principal amount of $198,435,000.  The bonds were issued as new 
funds with the purpose to fund portions of the Five-Year Work Plan. 
 

 

http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
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CFX elected to use the modified approach to account for maintenance of its infrastructure 
assets starting in fiscal year 1997.  The FDOT annually inspects CFX’s roadways.  The FDOT 
utilizes the Maintenance Rating Program (the “MRP”) to assess the condition of the System.  
Copies of the MRP manual may be obtained from the State Maintenance Office, 605 Suwannee 
Street, Mail Station 52, Tallahassee, FL 32399-0450.  The MRP manual provides a uniform 
evaluation system for maintenance features of the State Highway System.  The roadways are 
rated on a 100-point scale, with 100 meaning that every aspect of the roadway is in new and 
perfect condition.  CFX’s System, as a whole, is given an overall rating, indicating the average 
condition of all roadways operated by CFX.  The assessment of condition is made by visual and 
mechanical tests designed to reveal any condition that would reduce highway-user benefits 
below the maximum level of service.  CFX’s policy is to maintain the roadway condition at a 
MRP rating of 80 or better.  The results of the last five completed inspections are as follows: 
 

Evaluation Period   
Fiscal Year  Rating 

   
2021  93% 
2020  91% 
2019  91% 
2018  92% 
2017  89% 

 
The budget-to-actual expenditures for preservation for the past five years are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year  Budget  Actual 
  (in thousands) 

 
2021  $ 33,064  $ 20,929 
2020     51,040     31,002 
2019     44,000     21,586 
2018     31,850     33,837 
2017     38,487     22,447 
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Schedule of CFX's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

CFX Fiscal 
Year Ending 

June 30,

Plan Sponsor 
Measurement 

Date          
June 30,

CFX's 
Proportion of 
the FRS Net 

Pension 
Liability

CFX's 
Proportionate 

Share of the FRS 
Net Pension 

Liability

CFX's 
Covered 
Payroll

CFX's 
Proportionate 

Share of the FRS 
Net Pension 
Liability as a 

Percentage of 
Covered Payroll

FRS Plan 
Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 
Percentage of 
Total Pension 

Liability
2021 2020 0.0022% 9,396$                5,100$          184.24% 78.85%
2020 2019 0.0220% 7,608                  4,712            161.46% 82.61%
2019 2018 0.0205% 6,180                  4,250            145.41% 84.26%
2018 2017 0.0201% 5,958                  4,093            145.57% 83.89%
2017 2016 0.0191% 4,812                  3,746            128.46% 84.88%
2016 2015 0.0174% 2,249                  3,212            70.02% 92.00%
2015 2014 0.0157% 959                     2,987            32.11% 96.09%
2014 2013 0.0091% 1,566                  2,985            52.46% 88.54%

CFX Fiscal 
Year Ending 

June 30,

Plan Sponsor 
Measurement 

Date          
June 30,

CFX's 
Proportion of 
the HIS Net 

Pension 
Liability

CFX's 
Proportionate 

Share of the HIS 
Net Pension 

Liability

CFX's 
Covered 
Payroll

CFX's 
Proportionate 

Share of the HIS 
Net Pension 
Liability as a 

Percentage of 
Covered Payroll

HIS Plan 
Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 
Percentage of 
Total Pension 

Liability
2021 2020 0.0214% 2,618$                7,441$          35.18% 3.00%
2020 2019 0.0214% 2,391                  7,147            33.45% 2.63%
2019 2018 0.0202% 2,134                  6,585            32.41% 2.15%
2018 2017 0.0189% 2,021                  6,023            33.55% 1.64%
2017 2016 0.0173% 2,018                  5,345            37.75% 0.97%
2016 2015 0.0157% 1,603                  4,769            33.61% 0.50%
2015 2014 0.0152% 1,418                  4,507            31.46% 0.99%
2014 2013 0.0154% 1,343                  4,482            29.96% 1.78%

Notes:
1)

Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program Defined Benefit Pension Plan

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years; however, data was unavailalbe prior to 2014.  Additional years' 
information will be presented as it becomes available.

(in thousands)

(in thousands)

Florida Retirement System (FRS) Defined Benefit Pension Plan
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Schedule of CFX Contributions

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

June 30,

FRS 
Contractually 

Required 
Contribution

FRS 
Contributions in 
Relation to the 
Contractually 

Required 
Contribution

FRS Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

CFX's 
Covered 
Payroll

FRS Contributions 
as a Percentage of 

Covered Payroll
2021 835$              835$                  -$                   5,426$         15.39%
2020 720                720                    -                     5,100           14.12%
2019 685                685                    -                     4,712           14.54%
2018 585                585                    -                     4,250           13.76%
2017 524                524                    -                     4,093           12.80%
2016 465                465                    -                     3,746           12.41%
2015 424                424                    -                     3,212           13.20%
2014 344                344                    -                     2,987           11.52%

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

June 30,

HIS 
Contractually 

Required 
Contribution

HIS 
Contributions in 
Relation to the 
Contractually 

Required 
Contribution

HIS Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

CFX's 
Covered 
Payroll

HIS Contributions 
as a Percentage of 

Covered Payroll
2021 130$              130$                  -$                   7,811$         1.66%
2020 124                124                    -                     7,441           1.67%
2019 119                119                    -                     7,147           1.67%
2018 109                109                    -                     6,585           1.66%
2017 100                100                    -                     6,023           1.66%
2016 89                  89                     -                     5,345           1.67%
2015 60                  60                     -                     4,769           1.26%
2014 52                  52                     -                     4,507           1.15%

Notes:
1)

Florida Retirement System (FRS) Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program Defined Benefit Pension Plan

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years; however, data was unavailalbe prior to 2014.  
Additional years' information will be presented as it becomes available.

(in thousands)

(in thousands)
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2021 2020

 $      496,955  $      451,894 
7,164 12,140 
1,396 820 
1,353 1,778 
9,507 10,817 

745 732 
Total revenues 517,120 478,181 

65,807 64,937 
18,552 18,022 
8,993 8,910 

Other operating 3,303 3,580 
Total expenses 96,655 95,449 

                  -   756 

       expenses received from FDOT            (7,174)            (7,601)
Net expenses 89,481 88,604 

       received from the FDOT  $      427,639  $      389,577 

 $      211,164  $      192,866 

2.03 2.02 

8,163$          7,555$          

1.95 1.94 

        service payments

*These calculations are done according to the Master Subordinate Lien Resolution.

Note: Revenues and expenses are presented on this schedule on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain amounts included on the statement of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position are not part of net revenues, as defined, and are, therefore, excluded from this
schedule.

Subordinate Payments

Subordinate Debt Service Ratio*

CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY AUTHORITY
Calculation of the Composite Debt Service Ratio, as Defined

by the Bond Resolutions and Related Documents

Senior lien debt service ratio of net revenues to debt

Miscellaneous

Expenses:
Operations
Maintenance
Administration

Add deposits into OMA reserve
Less advances allowable for operations and maintenance

Net revenues, as defined, inclusive of advances

Senior lien debt service payments

Interest

Years Ended June 30,

Fees tied to revenue collection
Transponder sales
Other operating

(in thousands)
Schedule 1

Revenues:
Tolls
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

 

To the Members of the 
Central Florida Expressway Authority 

Orlando, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements, as listed in the 
table of contents, of the Central Florida Expressway Authority (“CFX”) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated DATE. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered CFX’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of CFX’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of CFX’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow manage-
ment or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weak-
nesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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To the Members of the 
Central Florida Expressway Authority 

 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether CFX’s financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial 
statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Pursuant to provisions of Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, we reported certain matters to 
management in a separate management letter and Independent Accountant’s Report dated DATE. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of CFX’s internal control 
or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering CFX’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this commu-
nication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Orlando, Florida 
DATE 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
ON COMPLIANCE WITH BOND COVENANTS 

 
 
 
 
To the Members of the 

Central Florida Expressway Authority 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements, as listed in the 
table of contents, of the Central Florida Expressway Authority (“CFX”) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated DATE. 
 
Other Matter 
 
In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that CFX failed to 
comply with the terms, covenants, provisions, or conditions of Sections 5.2, 5.5 to 5.7, 5.9, 5.10, 5.12, 
and 5.17, inclusive of the Amended and Restated Master Bond Resolution dated February 3, 2003, insofar 
as they relate to accounting matters.  However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining 
knowledge of such noncompliance.  Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters 
may have come to our attention regarding CFX’s noncompliance with the above-referenced terms, 
covenants, provisions, or conditions of the Amended and Restated Master Bond Resolution, insofar as 
they relate to accounting matters. 
 
Restricted Use Relating to the Other Matter 
 
This communication related to compliance with the aforementioned Amended and Restated Master Bond 
Resolution and is intended solely for the information and use of CFX members, management, and the 
bondholders and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
 
 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Orlando, Florida 
DATE 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT 
 
 
 
 
To the Members of the 

Central Florida Expressway Authority 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
We have examined the compliance of the Central Florida Expressway Authority (“CFX”) with the 
requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.  Manage-
ment is responsible for CFX’s compliance with those requirements.  Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on CFX’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about CFX’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our examination provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.  Our examination does not provide a legal determination on CFX’s compliance 
with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, CFX complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
 
 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Orlando, Florida 
DATE 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER 

 
 
To the Members of the 

Central Florida Expressway Authority 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Central Florida Expressway Authority (“CFX”) as of and for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated DATE. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States of America; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. 
 
Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Governmental Auditing Standards; Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Bond Covenants; and 
Independent Accountant’s Report on an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional 
Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General.  Disclosures in those reports, which are dated DATE, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit 
report.  There were no findings or recommendations made in the preceding annual financial report. 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal authority 
for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this management 
letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  The legal authority is disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements. 
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To the Members of the 
Central Florida Expressway Authority 

 
 
Financial Condition 

Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and report the results of our determination as to whether or not CFX has met one or more of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific condition(s) 
met.  In connection with our audit, we determined that CFX did not meet any of the conditions described in 
Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures for CFX.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor CFX’s financial 
condition, and our financial condition assessment was based, in part, on representations made by management 
and the review of financial information provided by same. 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any recommendations to 
improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not have any such recommendations. 
 
Special District Component Units 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.c., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not a special 
district that is a component unit of a county, municipality, or special district, provided the financial informa-
tion necessary for proper reporting of the component unit, within the audited financial statements of the 
county, municipality, or special district in accordance with Section 218.39(3)(b), Florida Statutes.  There were 
no special district component units that were required to provide financial information to CFX for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
Additional Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that 
have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of those 
charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not note any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, 
members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, federal 
and other granting agencies, the members of CFX’s Board, and applicable management, and is not intended to 
be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Orlando, Florida 
DATE 
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FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 

Audit Overview



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 3

Services and Deliverables

• Engaged to audit CFX’s financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2021

• Issue an opinion as to whether or not CFX’s financial 
statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects, in conformity with GAAP (pages 1-2)



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 4

Other Reports

• Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
(pages 53-54)

• Report on Compliance with Bond Covenants 
(page 55)

• Examination Report on Investment Compliance 
(page 56)

• Management Letter (pages 57-58)



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 5

Internal Controls

• We considered CFX’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing our audit 
procedures

• We did not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
CFX’s internal controls



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 6

Compliance

• We performed tests of the CFX’s compliance with 
laws, regulations, contracts, bond covenants, and 
grant agreements, as applicable.



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 7

Communication of Significant 
Matters

There were no audit adjustments made during the 
course of the audit; however, we did advise management 
on the reporting of swap termination fees

There were no unreported or unadjusted differences

We had no disagreements with management

As far as we know, management did not receive opinions 
from other accountants



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 8

Management Representations

We will request certain representations from 
management, including:

• Records provided complete

• No known communications from regulatory agencies 
concerning noncompliance

• Responsible for internal controls

• No undisclosed knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud

• Financial statements complete

• Responsible for compliance

• Complied with contractual obligations



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 9

Assigned Individual

CFX identified Lisa Lumbard, CFO, as the management-
level individual to oversee our work and take 
responsibility for CFX’s financial statements



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 10

Audit Schedule

Audit Stage Dates

Interim fieldwork June 2021

Year-end fieldwork Sept. 2021

Review of Financial Statements Oct. 2021

Presentation to the Audit Committee Oct. 27, 2021

Presentation to the Board Dec. 9, 2021

Submission of ACFR to GFOA By Dec. 31, 2021



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 

Financial 
Highlights



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 12

Financial Highlights - Overview
(in thousands)

Year Ended
6/30/21

Year Ended
6/30/20

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows $   6,744,000 $   6,668,000

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows $   3,855,000 $   4,007,000

Net Position $   2,889,000 $   2,661,000

Operating Revenue $      507,000 $      467,000

Operating Expenses $      144,000 $      150,000

Operating Income $      363,000 $      317,000

Change in Net Position $      228,000 $      204,000

% Incr (Decr) in Operating Revenue 8.6% (1.9%)

% Incr (Decr) in Operating Expense (4.0%) 10.4%



FLORIDA ROOTS.  GLOBAL REACH. 13

Financial Highlights - Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

2021 2020
Unrestricted Assets $      609,000 $      430,000

Restricted Assets 558,000 743,000

Capital Assets 5,271,000 5,102,000

Deferred Outflows of Resources 306,000 393,000

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows $   6,744,000 $   6,668,000

Revenue Bonds Outstanding 3,469,000 3,398,000

Other Liabilities 381,000 603,000

Deferred Inflows of Resources 5,000 6,000

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows                       3,855,000 4,007,000

Total Net Position 2,889,000 2,661,000

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position $   6,744,000 $   6,668,000
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Financial Highlights - Operation 
Overview (in thousands)

2021 2020
Operating Revenues $       507,000 $       467,000
Investment and Other Income 6,000 23,000

Total Revenues 513,000 490,000

Operating Expenses 144,000 150,000
Interest Expense 141,000 134,000
Other Expense - 2,000

Total Expenses 285,000 286,000
Change in Net Position 228,000 204,000
Net Position, Beginning of Year 2,661,000 2,457,000

Net Position, End of Year $   2,889,000 $   2,661,000
Debt Service Ratio 2.03 2.02
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.

INTERNAL AUDIT STATUS

Annual Audits

Internal Audit Plan and Risk Assessment

Board and Audit Committee Meetings

Prior Audit Recommendations: Semi-Annual Follow-Up

Procurement and Contract Billing Audits

DHSMV Data Security Assessment

DAVID Data Security Assessment

PCI Assessment with Report on Compliance

Secure Code Review

Cyclical Audits

Customer Service Center Performance Assessment

Right of Way Audit

As Needed Audits

Microsoft Could Security Assessment

Infinity System Ransomware Simulation

Third Party Collections Review (Payment Solutions) 

Engineering and Construction Invoice Review

Cashless Tolling Risk Analysis

ERP Implementation Support

2022 Project Timeline

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

CompletePlan In-Process

As of October 27, 2021
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Disclaimer  
This report is intended solely for the use of management of Central Florida Expressway Authority ("Client" or "CFX") 
and is not to be used or relied upon by others for any purpose whatsoever. This report and the related findings and 
recommendations detailed herein provide management with information about the condition or risks and internal 
controls at one point in time. Future changes in environmental factors and actions by personnel may significantly 
and adversely impact these risks and controls in ways that this report did not and cannot anticipate.  
 
This report presents the results of a CFX performed by Protiviti between May 2021 and June 2021. The scope of 
the review was limited to specific target mobile applications which were agreed upon during project scoping. This 
executive summary report is designed for the reader to understand the level of security assessed, to identify security 
deficiencies, to identify areas of strength and weakness, and to develop a course of action to correct vulnerabilities 
and mitigate associated risks. 
 
Penetration testing is an uncertain process which is based upon past experiences, currently available information, 
and known threats. It should be understood that all information security systems, which by their nature are 
dependent on their human operators, are vulnerable to some degree. Therefore, while the team believes to have 
identified the major security vulnerabilities on the systems analyzed, there can be no assurance that any exercise 
of this nature will identify all possible vulnerabilities or propose exhaustive and operationally viable 
recommendations to mitigate those exposures. This report identifies known vulnerabilities that were detected during 
the test period; new devices, configuration changes and new/future vulnerabilities were not tested. While the matters 
presented herein are the result of the review, had additional procedures been performed, other matters may have 
been identified that would have been reported to CFX. 
 
Additionally, this report contains information concerning potential vulnerabilities of CFX network(s)/system(s) and 
methods for exploiting them. The team recommends that special precautions be taken to protect the confidentiality 
of both this document and the information contained herein. 
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Executive Summary 
Background  
As part of their 2021 Audit Plan, Central Florida Expressway Authority ("Client" or "CFX") engaged Protiviti to 
perform mobile application penetration testing and source code review. The project focused on evaluating controls 
that directly correlate to threats and risks that may compromise the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the 
E-Pass / Pay-by-Plate (“E-Pass”) and Visitor Toll Pass (“VTP”) applications. Fieldwork was performed remotely 
from Protiviti security labs between May 2021 and June 2021. 
 
Objectives and Scope  
This engagement was executed with the intent of assessing controls that are in place within the applications and 
are designed to minimize the risks of the organization. Emphasis was placed on evaluating the application 
safeguards that restrict unauthorized access to the CFX applications, the data they transmit, and the critical data 
(e.g. credentials, personally identifiable data, credit card information etc.) they store. 
 
The scope of the engagement included the following: 
 

• Mobile Application Penetration Test – Protiviti assessed both CFX mobile applications on both iOS and 
Android platforms for security vulnerabilities by emulating end-users with physical and remote access to 
mobile devices with the CFX application installed. As part of the assessment, Protiviti analyzed the behavior, 
data protection mechanisms, and sensitive information handling for both applications with respect to their host 
mobile operating systems. Additionally, Protiviti monitored data traffic from the applications to backend CFX 
servers to identify potential methods of abuse. 

• Source Code Review – Protiviti reviewed the E-Pass and VTP codebases for security vulnerabilities, third-
party dependency and library usage, as well as secure coding standards and practices. As part of the source 
code analysis, Protiviti manually reviewed configurations and any third-party packages used, to identify 
vulnerable or outdated packages.  

 
Summary of Results  
 
During the assessment, Protiviti discovered one (1) medium priority, four (4) low priority, and (2) informational issues 
affecting the in-scope mobile applications. The medium and low priority issues are summarized below: 
 

• Password Policy – The E-Pass application password policy could be enhanced to strengthen the security of 
customer accounts. 

• Application Backups – The manner in which backups are configured for the VTP app could be enhanced to 
further protect customer data. 

• Background Screen Caching – Screenshots automatically captured for the E-Pass application could be 
further protected. 

• Root Detection – Both the E-Pass and VTP applications could be enhanced to detect rooted devices. 

• Random Number Generation - Both the E-Pass and VTP applications could use more secure techniques to 
randomly generate numbers. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Overview

As part of the Fiscal Year 2021 Internal Audit plan, Internal Audit performed a review of open audit recommendations from prior audit 

reports as of September 30, 2021 to verify the implementation status reported by management.  Open recommendations from the 

following audits were evaluated:

Internal Audit last reviewed the status of open audit recommendations in March 2021. Results were reported to the Audit Committee 

in April 2021.

2017 Change Management – Tolling System Replacement 

Audit

2018 IT General Controls Review

2019 Accounting Financial Controls Review

2019 IT Project Management Review

2019 LENS Access Control Review

2020 Secure Code Review

2020 COSO ERM Governance Review

2020 Marketing and Social Media Audit

2020 P-Card and Gas Card Audit

2020 Retail Transponder Sales Review

2020 Public Records Review

2021 Toll Revenue Audit

Objectives, Scope, and Approach

This review was completed as of September 30, 2021 and consisted of meetings with management to determine the status of open 

audit recommendations and testing of management's response and status.  In addition, only those recommendations that remained

open at the time of the last review have been included in this report.  If a recommendation was completed as of March 31, 2021, no 

further work was performed, and the recommendation was not included for review.

Testing performed included inquiry with the employees responsible for completing the recommendations and/or review of 

documentation evidence to confirm management's reported status and explanation.  In instances where the evidence obtained did

not agree with management's status, discussions with management were held and the differences were resolved.  There were no 

instances where management and Internal Audit did not come to an agreement on the status of a prior audit recommendation.

3
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Audit

Open as of

March 31, 

2021*

New 

Action 

Plans

Completed as of 

September 30, 

2021

In Progress as of

September 30, 

2021*

Past Due*

2017 Change Management - Tolling System Replacement Audit 1 0 0 1 0

2018 IT General Controls Review 1 0 0 1 0

2019 Accounting and Financial Controls Audit 1 0 0 1 0

2019 IT Project Management Review 1 0 0 1 0

2019 LENS Access Control Review 1 0 0 1 0

2020 Secure Code Review 1 0 0 1 1

2020 COSO ERM Governance Review 2 0 2 0 0

2020 Marketing and Social Media Audit 2 0 1 1 1

2020 P-Card and Gas Card Audit 2 0 1 1 0

2020 Retail Transponder Sales Review 1 0 0 1 0

2020 Public Records 2 0 2 0 0

2021 Toll Revenue Audit 0 5 3 2 0

Total 15* 5 9 11* 2*

*11 recommendations are classified as "In Progress." Eight of the 11 recommendations are past the initial agreed-upon due date; however, six of 

these eight recommendations are pending completion of a new system implementation or a procurement/vendor selection event, so the due date 

has been revised to match the estimated timing of the necessary event. One of the 11 recommendations is past the initial agreed-upon due date 

and has been assigned a revised due date. The other remaining “In Progress” recommendations are within the original, agreed-upon due date.

Recommendations Summary

4
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

6

2017 Change Management - Tolling System Replacement Audit

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

TSR Vulnerability Scans:

Management will remediate the 

Medium vulnerabilities near the 

completion of the TSR project.

Jim Greer, Chief of 

Technology and 

Operations

In Progress -

Contingent 

upon Full 

Implementation 

of New Tolling 

System

Per discussion with the Chief of Technology and 

Operations, CFX has determined that remediation of 

these vulnerabilities will be performed prior to 

completion of the Toll System Replacement Project. 

Management expects the Medium vulnerabilities 

related to the Tolling System Replacement to be 

completed by the revised due date of 6/30/2022. 

Original:

6/30/2019

Revised:

9/30/2020

Revised:

12/31/2020

Revised:

12/31/2021

Revised:

6/30/2022

2018 IT General Controls Review (1 – In Progress – Contingent on System Implementation) 

Exempt F.S.282.318
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan
Responsible 

Party
Status Summary of Status Due Date

Vendor Master File Management:

CFX will implement a review of new 

vendors into the Accounting Clerk’s 

review of invoices to ensure the 

vendor was entered completely and 

accurately. CFX will further 

implement a review of vendor 

changes into the CFOs monthly 

review procedures. 

Lisa Lumbard, 

CFO

In Progress -

Contingent on 

Implementation 

of New ERP 

System

Per discussion with the CFO, the EDEN accounting 

system recognizes every invoice paid as an update to 

the vendor within the AP module. As such, it is not 

possible to review monthly vendor changes as part of 

the current review process. As of the date of testing, 

the Authority is currently in the beginning stages of 

implementing a new ERP system which, among other 

things, will allow management to review actual vendor 

changes in the AP module In the meantime, the 

invoice review process has been updated to include a 

review of vendor information per EDEN against the 

invoice received to ensure appropriateness of the 

payee. The implementation of the new ERP system is 

expected to be completed by the revised due date of 

12/31/2022.

Original: 

8/31/2019

Revised: 

12/31/2022

2019 Accounting and Financial Controls Review
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Resource Planning:

Management will formalize 

resourcing practices with regard to 

projects at CFX based on 

requirements and budgets defined 

in the project intake process (see 

Observation 2).  CFX will integrate 

these practices within the ERP 

system planned for 2021.

Jim Greer, Chief 

Technology and 

Operations Officer

In Progress -

Contingent on 

Implementation 

of New ERP 

System

Per discussion with the Chief of Technology and 

Operations, remediation of this finding will involve 

integration of CFX's timekeeping ERP system within 

Cherwell. As EDEN is slated to be replaced in 2022 by 

a new ERP system, remediation of this finding is 

contingent upon new ERP system implementation; the 

revised due date reflects this contingency. This 

recommendation is expected to be completed by the 

revised due date.

Original: 

7/31/2020

Revised: 

12/31/2022

2019 IT Project Management Review

8
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Risk Management Feedback:

The Risk Management Working 

Group will include an agenda item 

to solicit feedback from each 

relevant department regarding key 

strategic risks. The Risk 

Management Working Group, in 

coordination with management, will 

update the Three-Year Strategic 

Plan with the strategic risks for 

each strategic goal. 

Lisa Lumbard, Chief 

Financial Officer

Complete Per discussion with the Risk Manager, the Three-Year 

Strategic Plan has been updated with feedback from 

relevant departments regarding strategic risks for each 

goal. Internal Audit obtained the Strategic Three-Year 

Plan 2020-2023 document to confirm completion of 

the action plan.

Original:

3/31/2021

Revised:

6/30/2021

Data Requests:

The Risk Management Working 

Group will include an agenda item 

to monitor status of each of the 

above data requests and follow up 

as needed. Additionally, the Risk 

Management Working Group will 

coordinate with the Technology / 

Operations Department to refine 

the ticketing system by which 

reporting requests are made and 

will support development of that 

system towards capture of relevant 

cost / benefit information. 

Lisa Lumbard, Chief 

Financial Officer

Complete Per discussion with the CFO and Risk Manager, the 

Risk Management Working Group coordinated with IT 

to conduct a cost/benefit analysis of the proposed 

ticketing system refinements and determined that 

existing processes by which the IT Steering 

Committee manually assesses reporting requests are 

functioning adequately, and that the benefits 

associated with developing additional infrastructure 

would be minimal. Internal Audit concurred with 

management’s assessment.

6/30/2021

2020 COSO ERM Governance Review

9
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Contractor Use Guidelines:

Management will develop a social 

media use guideline or policy for 

CFX contractor and subcontractor 

employees. Management will also 

incorporate an annual social media 

policy acknowledgement for all 

CFX employees. Finally, 

management will implement 

periodic social media continuing 

education for employees that work 

directly with social media platforms 

and tools. 

Michelle Maikisch, 

Chief of Staff/Public 

Affairs Officer

In Progress Per discussion with the Chief of Staff/Public Affairs 

Officer, the communications team has developed a 

social media use policy for contractor and 

subcontractor employees and requires 

acknowledgement during onboard. However, an 

annual acknowledgement of the policy has not been 

implemented; nor has continuing education taken 

place. Internal Audit obtained the signed Social Media 

Guidelines document to confirm partial completion of 

the action plan.

Original: 

1/31/2021

Revised: 

6/30/2021

Social Media Procedures:

Management will consider the 

recommended topics as an update 

to the Social Media Procedures 

Manual.

Angela Melton, 

Manager of 

Communications 

and Marketing 

Complete Per discussion with the Manager of Communications 

and Marketing, management has implemented 

updates to the Social Media Procedures Manual as 

prescribed. Internal Audit obtained the signed Social 

Media Guidelines document to confirm completion of 

the action plan.

6/30/2021

2020 Marketing and Social Media Audit

10
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS
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Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Digital Approval Workflow:

Procurement will work with the IT 

team to determine the best 

workflow option for each part of the 

recommendation (Adobe Sign, 

SharePoint, or others). 

Management will develop and 

implement the digital workflow(s) in 

accordance with the 

recommendation. 

Aneth Williams, 

Director of 

Procurement 

In Progress -

Contingent on 

Implementation 

of New ERP 

System

Per discussion with the CFO, implementation of a 

digital approval workflow will involve integration with 

CFX’s new ERP system. As completion of this action 

plan is contingent upon implementation of the new 

ERP system in 2022, the revised due date reflects 

this contingency. This recommendation is expected 

to be completed by the revised due date.

Original:

12/31/2020

Revised:

12/31/2022

Vendor Reporting Capabilities:

Management will review P-Card 

vendor reporting capabilities to 

extract transaction data. The 

Manager of Contract Compliance 

will implement a process to review 

transaction data and sample P-

Card monthly statements for the 

quarterly audit. Procedures will be 

updated as the process is 

developed. 

Carrie Baker, 

Manager of 

Contract 

Compliance 

Complete Per discussion with the Manager of Contract 

Compliance, a periodic analytical review process has 

been designed and implemented regarding P-Card 

transaction data provided by the vendor. Internal 

Audit obtained the most recent P-Card transaction 

analysis workbook to confirm completion of the 

action plan.

Original:

10/31/2020

Revised:

6/30/2021

2020 P-Card and Gas Card Audit



© 2021 Protiviti Inc. All Rights Reserved. This document has been prepared for use by CFXs management, audit committee, and board of 

directors. This report provides information about the condition of risks and internal controls at one point in time. Future events and changes may 

significantly and adversely impact these risks and controls in ways that this report did not and cannot anticipate. 

STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Reporting Capabilities:

CFX will organize a working group 

comprised of stakeholders 

involved in retail transponder sales 

and inventory management 

processes and IT to discuss 

fulfillment of key reporting needs 

through current CRM 

implementation.

Mike Carlisle, Director 

of Accounting and 

Finance

In Progress –

Contingent on 

Implementation 

of CRM System

Per discussion with the Director of Accounting 

and Finance, stakeholders involved in retail 

transponder sales and inventory management 

processes have begun meeting to evaluate CRM 

capabilities. As completion of this action plan is 

contingent upon implementation of the new CRM 

system in 2022, the revised due date reflects this 

contingency. This recommendation is expected to 

be completed by the revised due date.

Original:

3/31/2021

Revised:

12/31/2022

2020 Retail Transponder Sales Review

12
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Public Records Destruction:

Management will develop and 

document a road map to achieve a 

future-state process that includes 

systematic and periodic disposal of 

electronic and hardcopy records in 

accordance with policy and 

statutory obligations. The road 

map will help document 

dependencies, challenges, 

resource needs, management 

decision points, etc.

Tim O’Toole, 

Director of Records 

Management

Complete Per discussion with the Director of Records 

Management, CFX developed a road map to 

implement future-state processes as prescribed. 

Internal Audit obtained the Records and Information 

Management Audit Response Plan document to 

confirm completion of the action plan.

6/30/2021

Offsite Public Records 

Destruction:

Management will coordinate with 

Access Records Storage to amend 

the contract terms to better align 

the information disclosed on the 

Certificates of Destruction with 

what is required to comply with 

Florida Public Records Law.

Tim O’Toole, 

Director of Records 

Management

Complete Per discussion with the Director of Records 

Management, CFX drafted and executed an 

addendum to the Access Records Storage contract. 

Internal Audit obtained the contract addendum and 

correspondence from the vendor confirming revision to 

relevant terms and the vendor’s acceptance. 

Original: 

12/31/2020

Revised: 

6/30/2021

2020 Public Records Review
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Toll System Performance 

Monitoring – Short-term:

Management should perform a 

manual review of transaction 

handling for a sample of 

transactions within the population 

of flushes with the highest 

estimated frequency and material 

impact to determine the rate and 

impact of error;

Management should perform the 

above review monthly until a 

permanent solution is developed.

David Boston, 

Manager of Toll 

Technical Systems 

Complete Per discussion with the Manager of Toll Technical 

Systems, management has implemented a monthly  

review of flushed transactions on a sample basis. 

Internal Audit obtained documentation related to the 

manual reviews which occurred in May, June, and July 

2021 to confirm implementation of the action plan. 

6/30/2021

2021 Toll Revenue Audit

14
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Toll System Performance 

Monitoring - Long-term:

Management should catalogue all 

known scenarios for flush handling 

failure (i.e., improper flush and 

failure to flush);

Define criteria for each scenario; 

identify characteristics which can 

be used to identify;

Perform manual review of a 

sample of transactions in each 

scenario to determine relative 

material impact;

Prioritize development of 

monitoring mechanisms (for each 

scenario according to relative 

material impact) to facilitate real-

time identification of issues utilizing 

thresholds and alerts; 

Perform periodic manual review of 

transactions in each scenario to 

validate monitoring mechanisms. 

David Boston, 

Manager of Toll 

Technical Systems 

In Progress Per discussion with the Manager of Toll Technical 

Systems, development of a catalogue of flush 

handling failure scenarios is underway utilizing 

analysis from the monthly reviews of flushed 

transactions. Additionally, monitoring mechanisms 

utilizing thresholds and real-time alerts are being 

developed for known issues. This recommendation is 

expected to be completed by the prescribed due date.

6/30/2022

2021 Toll Revenue Audit (Continued)
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STATUS OF ALL OPEN RECOMMENDATIONS

Management Action Plan Responsible Party Status Summary of Status Due Date

Logical Access to TRIMS:

Management will: 

Perform an impact assessment to 

confirm instances of inappropriate 

access and removed access 

where needed;

Coordinate with Alliance One to 

realign responsibilities related to 

personnel changes to ensure 

timely notification of CFX IT for any 

terminations and personnel 

changes; 

Enhance procedures around 

periodic user access review to 

ensure sufficient coverage.

Dave Wynne, 

Director of Toll 

Operations 

Rafael Milan, 

Director of 

Information 

Technology 

Complete Per discussion with the Director of Toll Operations, an 

impact assessment has been performed to confirm 

instances of inappropriate access to TRIMS and 

access has been removed where needed. 

Additionally, responsibilities related to personnel 

changes have been realigned to Alliance One staff. 

Internal Audit obtained documentation utilized in the 

impact assessment and most recent review of TRIMS 

access as support for completion of the action plan.

Original: 

6/30/2021

Review of Badge Access:

Management should ensure that 

review of badge access is 

performed with a degree of detail 

sufficient to uncover errors in 

report parameters which may 

hinder the efficacy of the review. 

Dave Wynne, 

Director of Toll 

Operations 

Complete Per discussion with the Director of Toll Operations,  

management has revised the badge access report 

parameters to permit for effective review. Additionally, 

responsibilities for access review have been realigned 

to Alliance One staff. Internal Audit obtained 

documentation from the most recent review of badge 

access as support for completion of the action plan by 

the prescribed due date.

6/30/2021

Negative Discrepancy Billing:

Management should coordinate 

with the toll collections contractor 

to mutually document and approve 

the criteria governing negative 

discrepancy billing. 

Mike Carlisle, 

Director of 

Accounting and 

Finance

In Progress Per discussion with the Director of Accounting and 

Finance, development of the required documentation 

is underway between CFX and the toll collections 

contractor. This recommendation is expected to be 

completed by the prescribed due date.

12/31/2021

2021 Toll Revenue Audit (Continued)
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D.5
PROCUREMENT 
AND CONTRACT 
BILLING AUDITS 

– CONTRACT 
SELECTION 



Central Florida Expressway Authority

Fiscal 2022

Internal Audit Contract Selections

Fiscal Year Vendor Contract Type Value Selection reason

2022 SEMA CONSTRUCTION, INC 1614 Construction $107,020,926 Unique procurement process - not a low bid; a project of "critical concern."

2022 DEWBERRY ENGINEERS, INC 1145 General Engineering Consultant Services $32,595,000 Have not previously audited this vendor. 

2022 QUEST CORPORATION OF, AMERICA, INC 1298 Public Information Services $3,353,403 Have not previously audited this vendor; invoices are complex due the number of ongoing projects.

Criteria Evaluated

Contract Size / Value

Contract Type 

Duration

Spend to Date 

Nature of the work performed, inclusive of departments outside of engineering and construction, inclusive of smaller value contracts

Prior audit selection (if a vendor contract has been audited in the past)

Feedback from management on higher risk contracts or vendors



D.6
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UPDATE 



 
THERE ARE  
NO BACKUP 

MATERIALS FOR 
THIS ITEM 
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